# THE FORGOTTEN ROLE OF THE CONSTITUTION IN MONETARY LAW

EDWIN VIEIRA, JR.\*

# Table of Contents

I.	Introduction	78
II.	The III-Defined Dollar	80
	A. Paper Currency	80
	B. Coins	82
	C. The Role of the Secretary of the Treasury	84
III.	Modern Monetary Misunderstandings	86
IV.	The Constitution Ignored	89
V.	Rediscovering the Constitutional Dollar	91
	A. English Common Law in the Colonies	92
	B. American Money Under the Articles of Confederation	95
	C. American Money Under the Constitution: Hamilton's	
	Proposals	99
	Bimetallic System	101
	2. Free Coinage	104
	3. Coin Denominations	105
	4. Foreign Coins	106
	D. The Coinage Act of 1792	107
VI.	Nonconstitutional Reform	119
	A. Monetary Constitutions	119
	B. Explaining Constitutional Ignorance	122
VII.	Conclusion	128

<sup>\*</sup> A.B., Harvard College, 1964; A.M., Ph.D., Harvard Graduate School of Arts and Sciences, 1969; J.D., Harvard Law School, 1973. The author wishes to thank the National Alliance for Constitutional Money for its support and Dr. Lawrence M. Parks, Executive Director of the Foundation for the Advancement of Monetary Education, for his encouragement in the preparation of this article.

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Over the past several decades, many Americans have considered inflation to be one of this country's most intractable economic, social, and political problems—and rightly so. But few people have actually studied works that describe the history of inflation in this and other societies,¹ that explain its causes and effects,² or that propose effective policies to eradicate it.³ Instead, the vast majority obtains information on this subject from the government and the media—the performance of which in explaining inflation draws into serious question the competence, if not the motives, of leading political figures and commentators.⁴ Therefore, not surprisingly, few Americans know even how to define inflation correctly. To most, "inflation" simply imports general increases in the prices of goods and services, without specifying the reason for those increases.

Even a source no more technical than a layman's dictionary better separates cause and effect in its treatment of "inflation," defining it as "an increase in the volume of money and credit relative to available goods resulting in a substantial and continuing rise in the general price level." More precisely still, Ludwig von Mises defined inflation as any increase in the quantity of money "not offset by a corresponding increase in the need for money . . . , so that a fall in the objective exchange-value of money must occur." Murray Rothbard further refined the definition of inflation as "the process of issuing money beyond any increase in the stock of specie [i.e., silver and gold]," explaining that, although increases in the stock of specie can raise the prices of goods, they "do not constitute an intervention in the free market, penalizing one group and subsidizing another" or "lead to the processes of the business cycle."

<sup>1.</sup> E.g., Gordon Tullock, Paper Money: A Cycle in Cathay, 9 Econ. Hist. Rev. 393 (1957); Andrew Dickson White, Fiat Money Inflation in France (San Francisco, Cato Inst. 1980) (1876); C. Bresciani-Turroni, The Economics of Inflation: A Study of Currency Depreciation in Post-War Germany (M. Savers trans., 1937); Murray Rothbard, America's Great Depression (1963).

<sup>2.</sup> The so-called "Austrian School" has best elaborated a comprehensive analysis of money integral to general economic theory. See, e.g., Ludwig von Mises, The Theory of Money and Credit (H. Batson trans., 1971); Ludwig von Mises, Human Action: A Treatise on Economics chs. xvii-xx, xxxi (3d rev. ed., Regnery 1966); Murray Rothbard, Man, Economy, and State: A Treatise on Economic Principles chs. 3, 11-12 (1970).

<sup>3.</sup> E.g., Ron Paul & Lewis E. Lehrman, The Case for Gold: A Minority Report of the U.S. Gold Commission (1982).

<sup>4.</sup> See, e.g., Robert Higgs, Blaming the Victims: The Government's Theory of Inflation, 29 The Freeman 397 (1979); T. Bethell, Television Evening News Covers Inflation: 1978-1979 (Media Institute 1980).

<sup>5.</sup> Webster's Third International Dictionary of the English Language 1159 (1971).

<sup>6.</sup> VON MISES, THE THEORY OF MONEY AND CREDIT, supra note 2, at 240.

<sup>7.</sup> Rothbard, supra note 2, at 851 & n.106.

Once issuing money beyond any increase in the stock of specie is understood to be the key operational element in inflation, anyone can see that the chief source of inflation in the contemporary United States is the ability of the Federal Reserve System to generate an endless stream of paper currency—Federal Reserve Notes. These Notes are purportedly a legal tender for all debts, public and private,8 supposedly an "obligation of the United States,"9 and not redeemable in silver or gold coin or bullion by anyone other than the twelve Federal Reserve regional banks.<sup>10</sup> Surprisingly, though, next to no one asks whether this ability is constitutional. People seem naturally to assume that inflation—and, perhaps one of these days, deflation—is merely the result of some unfortunate, but innocent and correctable mistakes that have cropped up in administering the Federal Reserve System; that reform is simply a matter of revising the structure and regulation of the system, and hiring managers more competent than those who have served in the past. Next to no one asks whether inflation is a more deep-seated problem that can be addressed and resolved only by returning to first principles both of monetary and banking economics and of constitutional law. Why is the Constitution, which in other contexts is easily-indeed, flippantly-invoked to advance "rights" unheard of the day before their assertion, not applied rigorously to an institution the actions of which are pregnant with such serious consequences for the economy of the United States? Is the Constitution simply irrelevant to contemporary issues of money and banking? Or have all these issues been settled in favor of the legality of the Federal Reserve System and its irredeemable paper currency? Surely there is a pressing need to answer these questions.

#### II. THE ILL-DEFINED DOLLAR

Nobel Laureate economist James Buchanan has condemned America's present monetary and banking systems as intellectually indefensible. And in the monetary statutes of the United States alone, the incomprehensibility, if not irrationality, of the system stands out starkly, even at the most basic level: the definition of the "money of account."

<sup>8.</sup> See 31 U.S.C. § 5103 (1994).

<sup>9. 12</sup> U.S.C. § 411 (1994).

<sup>10. 31</sup> U.S.C. §§ 5118(b), 5118(c)(1)(B), 5118(c)(2), and 5119(a). Of course, an important component of the problem of inflation is the ability of the banking system to generate "deposits" solvable in Federal Reserve Notes in addition to actual currency. For simplicity of analysis here, however, the "currency" and "deposit" powers will be conflated.

<sup>11.</sup> Prospects for a Monetary Constitution: Proceedings of the 1988 Progress Foundation International Conference (May 27, 1988), *in* 28 Am. Inst. FOR ECON. RESEARCH: ECON. EDUCATION BULL. 34 (June 1988).

80

Under present law "United States money is expressed in *dollars*." Moreover, all "United States coins and currency (including Federal reserve notes . . .) are legal tender for all debts, public charges, taxes and dues." Thus, all coins and currency, including Federal Reserve Notes, that are expressed in dollars are both money and legal tender. For this reason, accurately defining the noun "dollar" is mandatory in order to know what is "United States money" and what constitutes "legal tender for all debts, public charges, taxes and dues." Unfortunately, the monetary statutes do not define the term dollar in an intelligible fashion.

# A. Paper Currency

It is a mistake to associate the noun "dollar" with the Federal Reserve Note ("FRN") dollar bill, engraved with the portrait of President George Washington. No statute defines or has ever defined the one-dollar FRN as the dollar or even as a species of dollar. Moreover, the United States Code provides that FRNs "shall be redeemed in lawful money on demand at the Treasury Department of the United States . . . or at any Federal Reserve bank."14 Thus, FRNs are not themselves even "lawful money"; otherwise, they would not be "redeem[able] in lawful money." Moreover, FRNs are not lawful money imply perforce of their being "legal tender." Originally, Section 16 of the Federal Reserve Act provided that FRNs "shall be redeemed in gold on demand at the Treasury Department of the United States . . . , or in gold or lawful money at any Federal reserve bank."15 In 1933, Congress provided that "all . . . coins and currencies heretofore or hereafter coined or issued by or under the authority of the United States shall be legal tender for all debts public and private."16 Apparently, however, Congress itself questioned whether this applied to FRNs because it later explicitly declared "Federal Reserve notes [to be] legal tender for all debts, public and private, public charges, taxes, duties, and dues."17 This, however, did not stop Congress from then continuing the requirement that FRNs "shall be redeemable in lawful money on demand at the Treasury Department . . . or at any Federal Reserve bank."18 And if FRNs are not even lawful money, it is inconceivable that they are somehow dollars, the very units in which all "United States money is ex-

<sup>12. 31</sup> U.S.C. § 5101 (emphasis added).

<sup>13. 31</sup> U.S.C. § 5103.

<sup>14. 12</sup> U.S.C. § 411.

<sup>15.</sup> Act of Dec. 23, 1913, ch. 6, § 16, 38 Stat. 251, 265.

<sup>16.</sup> Act of May 12, 1933, ch. 25, § 43(b)(1), 48 Stat. 31, 52.

<sup>17.</sup> H.R.J. Res. 192, 73d Cong. (1933).

<sup>18.</sup> Act of 30 Jan. 1934, ch. 6, § 2(b)(1), 48 Stat. 337, 337.

# No. 1 The Forgotten Role of the Constitution

pressed."19

People are confused on this point because of the insidious manner in which FRNs evolved—actually, degenerated is a more appropriate verb—from the late 1920s until today. FRNs of Series 1928 through Series 1950E carried the obligation "THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA WILL PAY TO THE BEARER ON DEMAND [some number of] DOLLARS," and the inscriptions "REDEEMABLE IN GOLD ON DEMAND AT THE UNITED STATES TREASURY, OR IN GOLD OR LAWFUL MONEY AT ANY FEDERAL RESERVE BANK" (pre-1934); or "THIS NOTE . . . IS REDEEMABLE IN LAWFUL MONEY AT THE UNITED STATES TREASURY, OR AT ANY FEDERAL RESERVE BANK" (post-1934). Starting with Series 1963, the words "WILL PAY TO THE BEARER ON DEMAND" no longer appeared, and each FRN simply stated a particular denomination in dollars. With and after Series 1963, the promise of redemption also vanished from the face of each note.<sup>20</sup> Thus, on their faces FRNs became, in the apt description of banking expert John Exter, an "IOU nothing" paper currency in terms of silver or gold. Indeed, contemporary FRNs merely declare, "THIS NOTE IS LEGAL TENDER FOR ALL DEBTS, PUBLIC AND PRIVATE," with no reference to redemption at all—perhaps justifying, surely necessitating, the inscription on the reverse side of the bill, "IN GOD WE TRUST." FRNs do remain statutory redeemable in lawful money.21 But because redemption in gold has been outlawed for anyone other than Federal Reserve banks,<sup>22</sup> a nonbank holder of FRNs can expect to receive no more than base-metallic clad coins—that is, slugs.23

The devolution of FRNs from a paper currency redeemable in gold to one redeemable only in slugs is explicable economically and politically: To introduce the FRN as a new paper currency in 1913, the government had to tie it by a right of redemption to the circulating money of that day, gold coin.<sup>24</sup> And then, to transmogrify the FRN into a currency fit for limitless inflation, the government had to cut that tie to gold. However, the change in the mere language printed on FRNs and in their redeemability in gold could not transform that currency's ultimate legal character. If FRNs were not dollars when they explicitly promised to pay in gold, or later merely in lawful money, they did not magically become dollars when they stopped

<sup>19. 31</sup> U.S.C. § 5101 (1994).

<sup>20.</sup> See Hewitt-Donlon Catalog of United States Small Size Paper Money 66-153 (M. Hudgeons ed., 14 ed. 1979).

<sup>21.</sup> See 12 U.S.C. § 411 (1994).

<sup>22. 31</sup> U.S.C. §§ 5118(b), 5118(c)(1)(B), 5118(c)(2), and 5119(a).

<sup>23.</sup> See 31 U.S.C. §§ 5112(a)(1-6), 5112(b), 5112(c), and 5112(d).

<sup>24.</sup> Rothbard, supra note 2, at 231-37.

explicitly promising to pay in anything at all.25

#### B. Coins

The situation with coinage is more complex, and thus, equally, if not more, confusing. The United States Code provides for three types of coinage denominated in dollars: namely, base-metallic, gold, and silver coinage. The base-metallic coinage consists of "a dollar coin" weighing "8.1 grams"; "a half dollar coin" weighing "11.34 grams"; "a quarter coin" weighing "5.67 grams"; and "a dime coin" weighing "2.268 grams." All these coins are composed of copper and nickel. The weights of the dime, the quarter, and the half dollar are in the correct arithmetical proportions to each other. But the dollar is disproportionately light (or the other coins disproportionately heavy). This series of base-metallic coins, then, naturally raises the questions: Is the dollar a cupro-nickel coin weighing 8.1 grams? Or is it two cupro-nickel coins (or four or ten coins) collectively weighing 22.68 grams? Or is it both? Or is it neither, but something else altogether, to which the compositions and weights of these coins are irrelevant?

Similarly, the gold coinage consists of a "fifty dollar gold coin" that "weighs 33.931 grams, and contains one troy ounce of fine gold"; a "twenty-five dollar gold coin" that "contains one-half ounce of fine gold"; a "ten dollar gold coin" that "contains one fourth ounce of fine gold," and a "five dollar gold coin" that "contains one-tenth ounce of fine gold." The fifty-dollar, twenty-five-dollar, and five-dollar coins are in the correct arithmetical proportions to each other. But the ten-dollar coin is not. Therefore, is a dollar one-fiftieth or one-fortieth of an ounce of gold? Or both? Or neither? And what is the logical, economic, or other rational relationship between a dollar containing 8.1 grams of copper and nickel, and a dollar consisting of 0.679 grams of gold alloy?

Finally, the silver coinage consists of a coin that is inscribed "One Dol-

<sup>25.</sup> The adverb "explicitly" deserves careful attention, because no matter what FRNs do not state on their faces, they are required by statute to be "redeemed in lawful money." 12 U.S.C. § 411.

<sup>26. 31</sup> U.S.C. § 5112(a)(1-4).

<sup>27. 31</sup> U.S.C. § 5112(b).

<sup>28.</sup> One half dollar equals five dimes. One half dollar equals two quarters. And one quarter equals two and one-half dimes.

<sup>29. 31</sup> U.S.C. § 5112(a)(7-10).

<sup>30.</sup> If the proportions were consistent among all gold coins, the ten-dollar coin would contain one-fifth ounce of fine gold, not one-fourth.

<sup>31.</sup> For the purposes of this conundrum, a dollar's worth of coined gold is taken to be one-fiftieth of the weight of the fifty-dollar gold coin (33.931 grams), or 0.679 grams.

# No. 1 The Forgotten Role of the Constitution

lar," weighs "31.103 grams," and contains one ounce of ".999 fine silver." What are the rational relationships (if any) among this dollar of 31.103 grams of .999 fine silver, a dollar containing 0.679 grams of gold alloy, and a dollar containing 8.1 grams of base metals? Obviously, these are not the amounts of the various metals that exchange against each other in the free market—that is, the different weights of different metals do not reflect equivalent purchasing powers. So, on what theory are each of these disparate weights of different metals with disparate purchasing powers equally dollars?

# C. The Role of the Secretary of the Treasury

The United States Code provides no answer to this perplexing question. Indeed, it mandates that the question should not even be capable of being asked. For the Code commands that "the Secretary [of the Treasury] shall redeem gold certificates owned by the Federal reserve banks at times and in amounts the Secretary decides are necessary to maintain the equal purchasing power of each kind of United States currency."33 One need be no expert in currency transactions to know that a fifty-dollar gold coin has significantly more purchasing power than a fifty-dollar FRN or than fifty cupro-nickel dollars, and that a one-dollar silver coin has significantly more purchasing power than a one-dollar FRN or one cupro-nickel dollar. Thus, one need be no expert in administrative law to realize that the Secretary of the Treasury has defaulted on his obligation to keep all forms of United States currency at parity with each other—that is, to maintain a dollar of constant purchasing power, whether it be composed of gold, silver, base metals, or paper.<sup>34</sup> In addition, the concept of equal purchasing powers of all forms of United States coinage has a long statutory history from 1792 through 1900 to 1933.35

However, the Secretary's default cannot be traced to a lack of power to perform his duty. For example, under the provisions of the United States Code:

With the approval of the President, the Secretary of the Treasury may—(A) buy and sell gold in the way, in amounts, at rates, and on conditions the Secretary considers most advantageous to the public interest; and (B) buy the gold with any direct obligations of the United States Government or United States coins and currency authorized by law  $\dots$  36

The Secretary may buy silver mined from natural deposits in the United States . . . that is brought to a United States mint or assay of-

<sup>33. 31</sup> U.S.C. § 5119(a) (emphasis added).

<sup>34.</sup> The possible counterargument that the noun "currency" in the statute refers exclusively to *paper* currency, such as FRNs or United States Notes, is illogical because the Secretary is empowered "to maintain the equal purchasing power of each kind of United States currency" precisely by exchanging *gold* for paper (redeeming gold certificates). This indicates that the purchasing power of *gold* is one term in the equation of "equal purchasing power." Furthermore, the Constitution clearly—indeed, *uniquely*—embraces coinage within the concept of "currency." *See* U.S. CONST. art. I, § 8, cl. 5 (giving Congress power "To provide for the Punishment of counterfeiting the . . . current Coin of the United States"—the only use of the term "current," relating to money, in the entire document).

<sup>35.</sup> See, e.g., Act of Apr. 2, 1792, ch. 16, §§ 9, 11, 16, 1 Stat. 246, 248-50; Act of June 28, 1834, ch. 45, § 3, 4 Stat. 699, 700; Act of Nov. 1, 1893, ch. 8, 28 Stat. 4; Act of Mar. 14, 1900, ch. 41, §§ 1-2, 31 Stat. 45, 45; Act of May 12, 1933, ch. 25, § 43(b)(2), 48 Stat. 31, 52-53.

<sup>36. 31</sup> U.S.C. § 5116(a)(1).

# No. 1 The Forgotten Role of the Constitution

fice within one year after the month in which the ore from which it is derived was mined.<sup>37</sup>

The Secretary may sell or use Government silver to mint coins . . . . The Secretary shall sell silver under conditions the Secretary considers appropriate for at least \$1.292929292 a fine troy ounce.<sup>38</sup>

Except to the extent authorized in regulations the Secretary of the Treasury prescribes with the approval of the President, the Secretary may not redeem United States currency . . . in gold . . . . When redemption in gold is authorized, the redemption may be made only in gold bullion bearing the stamp of a United States mint or assay office in an amount equal at the time of redemption to the currency presented for redemption.<sup>39</sup>

Thus, the United States Code simply presents another unanswered question: Why has the Secretary of the Treasury failed "to maintain the equal purchasing power of each kind of United States currency"?<sup>40</sup>

In sum, the present monetary statutes do not define the noun "dollar" in an unique way. Instead of monetary *law*—which would seem to require clearly defined terms and rational relationships among them—the country's present monetary code smacks of *political psychosis*, in which completely different things have the same name, things unequal to each other are treated as equivalent, and things that should have the same characteristics (*e.g.*, equal purchasing powers) are quite different.

<sup>37. 31</sup> U.S.C. § 5116(b)(1).

<sup>38. 31</sup> U.S.C. § 5116(b)(2). This peculiar figure represents a "dollar" containing 371 1/4 grains (troy) of pure silver. Although 1.292929292 is an irrational number in mathematics, it is a very rational definition of the content of a silver "dollar" in constitutional law, as shall be seen presently.

<sup>39. 31</sup> U.S.C. § 5119(a).

<sup>40.</sup> Id.

86

#### III. MODERN MONETARY MISUNDERSTANDINGS

Leading intellectuals have no more coherent conception of the dollar than do the people or Congress. For a prime example, in his introduction to William Harvey's Coin's Financial School, the well-reputed historian Richard Hofstadter excoriates Harvey:

Harvey's version of the history of American money could hardly have been more misleading. His elaborate attempt to establish that the original monetary unit was a silver dollar, and that gold was "also made money" but that "its value was counted from the silver dollar" is nonsensical, as well as gratuitous. The original monetary unit was simply the dollar, circulated in a variety of pieces of both gold and silver.41

Obviously, however, Hofstadter never read (or understood) Section 9 of the Coinage Act of 1792, which explicitly refers to "Dollars or Units—each to be of the value of a Spanish milled dollar as the same is now current, and to contain three hundred and seventy one grains and four sixteenth parts of grain of pure . . . silver," not gold.42 The act mandated a set of gold coins denominated "EAGLES," which were not themselves "dollars," but were "to be of the value of " so many "Dollars," according to their weights of gold at the statutory exchange ratio of fifteen-to-one between silver and gold.<sup>43</sup> So, what Hofstadter derides as Harvey's supposedly "misleading," "gratuitous," and even "nonsensical" interpretation is exactly what the statute provides in so many words! Is it any wonder, then, that in an atmosphere of such intellectual confusion and hubris, today's monetary and banking systems have reached an impasse in which "nothing works," and where "today's predicament is beyond the means of any economic theory"?44

Apparently, however, nothing can be done, because the forces of the status quo are solidly entrenched politically. For example, James Buchanan recounted how in 1980 Ronald Reagan's staff solicited suggestions as to what the President-elect could do "to give an indication that [his] was going to be an administration with a policy thrust."45 Buchanan advised Reagan to "appoint a presidential commission that would look into . .

<sup>41.</sup> WILLIAM HARVEY, COIN'S FINANCIAL SCHOOL 37 (1894) (footnote omitted). Although little known today, this book was very influential in the 1890s. See J. LIVINGSTON, ORIGINS OF THE FEDERAL RESERVE System: Money, Class, and Corporate Capitalism: 1890-1913, at 90-95 (1986).

<sup>42.</sup> Act of Apr. 2, 1792, ch. 16, § 9, 1 Stat. 246, 248 (emphasis added).

<sup>43.</sup> Act of Apr. 2, 1792, ch. 16, §§ 9, 11, 1 Stat. 246, 248-49 (emphasis added).

<sup>44.</sup> See Alfred Malabre, Beyond Our Means: How America's Long Years of Debt. Deficits and RECKLESS BORROWING NOW THREATEN TO OVERWHELM US 83 (1987).

<sup>45.</sup> Id.

. the Federal Reserve authority," because "[w]hat we have now . . . never would have been constitutionally approved, on any kind of rational calculus, no matter what the political system." In response to inquiries from Reagan's staff, Buchanan delivered a short position paper to Reagan. But, Buchanan lamented,

Absolutely nothing happened. I never heard . . . one word from them. I found out months later, that they did consider the idea, but Arthur Burns [then-Chairman of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System] . . . rejected it, and would not have anything to do with any proposal that would change the authority of the central banking structure—you don't even . . . raise it as an issue to be discussed.<sup>47</sup>

From this experience, Buchanan characterized "the barrier of bureaucratic interest in maintaining" the present monetary and banking system as "extremely strong." Others might have concluded that something beyond a merely "bureaucratic interest" drove Burns' refusal to allow the issue to be ventilated. 49

This perverse interest in not having the Federal Reserve System even discussed is propped up by public ignorance about money and banking. The average man has no conception of the difference between an FRN dollar bill that is merely *exchangeable* with some merchant in the market-place for *unpredictably varying* amounts of goods and services (generally less and less, as time goes by) and a dollar bill that is *redeemable by law* by the issuer for a *fixed* amount of precious metal. He does not realize that other than base-metallic coinage, which itself is merely exchangeable but not redeemable by law, the only exchange for FRNs he can demand by legal right from the national government is to set off some tax or other liability he owes that government.<sup>50</sup> And this set-off is possible only because FRNs are statutory "obligations of the United States,"<sup>51</sup> a designation that may be repealed at any time.<sup>52</sup> That is, FRNs amount merely to *circulating tax-anticipation coupons*, nothing more. Neither does the av-

<sup>46.</sup> Id.

<sup>47.</sup> Id.

<sup>48.</sup> Prospects for a Monetary Constitution, supra note 11, at 32-34.

<sup>49.</sup> See generally, e.g., Carroll Quigley, Tragedy and Hope: A History of the World in Our Time (1966).

<sup>50.</sup> Compare 12 U.S.C. § 411 (1994), and 31 U.S.C. § 5103 (1994), with Lane County v. Oregon, 74 U.S. (7 Wall.) 71, 76-77 (1869).

<sup>51. 12</sup> U.S.C. § 411.

<sup>52.</sup> Compare Act of Dec. 23, 1913, ch. 6, § 16, 38 Stat. 251, 265, with Act of Dec. 23, 1913, ch. 6, § 30, 38 Stat. 251, 275, and Fleming v. Nestor, 363 U.S. 603, 608-12 (1960); Hisquierdo v. Hisquierdo, 429 U.S. 572, 575 & n.6 (1979); Trustees of Dartmouth College v. Woodward, 17 U.S. (4 Wheat.) 518, 627-31 (1819); Sinking-Fund Cases, 99 U.S. 700, 720 (1879); Meriwhether v. Garrett, 102 U.S. 472, 511 (1880); Covington v. Kentucky, 173 U.S. 231, 238-40 (1899); National Passenger R.R. Corp. v. A.T. & S.F. Ry., 470 U.S. 451, 456-57 (1985).

88

erage man suspect that what he imagines is *his* money in *his* "deposit account" in some member-bank of the Federal Reserve System (or any other bank, for that matter) is, in the eye of the law, really a *loan* he has made to the bank, and the *bank's* money.<sup>53</sup> Nor does the average man fathom the operations and consequences, if he even realizes the existence, of the "fractional-reserve" system on the basis of which his misnamed "deposits" are manipulated. This, of course, is no peculiar failing of contemporary Americans. When President Franklin D. Roosevelt declared a national bank holiday in 1933, he felt it necessary to use his first radio Fireside Chat to explain to the American people why the banks could not pay out all their deposits.<sup>54</sup> Roosevelt had no illusions about the ignorance of the public on that score.

To be sure, with the proper guidance, these issues are easily understood.55 Rather than educate himself on such matters, however, the average man today swallows the propaganda line of the Department of the Treasury and the Federal Reserve System that money and banking are "technical" areas "too complicated" for voters and politicians to understand, better left to "experts" for management in accordance with the arcane theories of contemporary mathematical economics, and certainly too important to become issues in the superficiality, buffoonery, and hurlyburly of electoral campaigns. This self-imposed ignorance of the great majority of Americans explains the country's responses to the three major monetary and banking collapses that have followed the creation in 1913 of the Federal Reserve System: the seizure of the people's gold coins and termination of redemption of FRNs in gold domestically, in 1933; the termination of redemption of United States paper currency in silver domestically and internationally, in 1968; and the termination of redemption of FRNs in gold internationally, in 1971. Notwithstanding how radically destructive of the monetary system each one of these events (and especially their cumulative effect) has been, not one nor all of them together triggered a constitutional, or even a political, crisis comparable to those that occurred, with massive participation by the general public-in the late 1700s, over ratification of the Constitution and its "hard-money" provisions;

<sup>53.</sup> See, e.g., Davis v. Elmira Sav. Bank, 161 U.S. 275, 288 (1896); Scammon v. Kimball, 92 U.S. 362, 369-71 (1875); Soc'y for Sav. v. Coite, 73 U.S. (6 Wall.) 594, 609 (1867); Thompson v. Riggs, 72 U.S. (5 Wall.) 663, 678 (1866); Marine Bank v. Fulton Bank, 69 U.S. (2 Wall.) 252, 256 (1864); Bank of the United States v. Bank of Georgia, 23 U.S. (10 Wheat.) 333, 340-42 (1825). The courts, however, have not dealt with whether this situation is acceptable where the vast majority of "depositors" has no inkling of the legal rule.

<sup>54.</sup> See Susan Estabrook Kennedy, The Banking Crisis of 1933, 180 (1973).

<sup>55.</sup> See, e.g., Murray Rothbard, The Mystery of Banking (1983); Murray Rothbard, The Case Against the Fed (1994).

in the 1830s, over the recharter of the Second Bank of the United States; in the 1870s, over resumption of specie payments for the Civil War "Greenbacks"; in the 1880s and 1890s, over the so-called gold standard and free silver; or in the early 1900s, over the creation of a central bank.

#### IV. THE CONSTITUTION IGNORED

So, perhaps not surprisingly, the contemporary consensus seems to be that the Constitution somehow affirmatively grants the government (and the private parties behind the Federal Reserve System) unlimited powers over money and banking, and that questioning such an assumption is an exercise in futility, if not a species of intellectual "extremism." For example, Geoffrey Brennan and James Buchanan say that "no country allows a totally free market in money, and none limits the governmental role to the definition of value of a monetary unit in support of a pure commodity standard."56 Murray Rothbard writes that "each nation-state . . . has . . . the unlimited right and power to create paper currency that will be legal tender in its own geographic area."57 James Dorn contends that "[p]resent U.S. monetary law incorporates . . . no constitutional limit binding the central bank [i.e., the Federal Reserve System] to a noninflationary path of money growth[,] . . . specifies no single objective for monetary policy[,] and lacks an enforcement mechanism to achieve monetary stability."58 And Henry Holzer argues that, at a minimum, a constitutional amendment is necessary to end monetary and banking manipulations by the government and its political clients.<sup>59</sup> Indeed, these ideas are shocking. For, if correct, they collectively describe a monetary and banking monopoly operated by a legally uncontrollable corporative-state banking cartel.

Notwithstanding the reputations of these and other scholars asserting such contentions, no one is constrained to accept their arguments uncritically. To do so would be a serious mistake in light of the precisely worded monetary provisions of the Constitution, no scholar with this pessimistic perspective has demonstrated that the Constitution supports his position. The Constitution provides that "The Congress shall have Power":<sup>60</sup>

<sup>56.</sup> GEOFFREY BRENNAN & JAMES BUCHANAN, Monopoly in Money and Inflation: The Case for a Constitution to Discipline Government 29 (London, Institute for Economic Affairs 1981).

<sup>57.</sup> Murray Rothbard, *The Case for a Genuine Gold Dollar*, The Gold Standard: An Austrian Perspective 1 (Llewellyn H. Rockwall, Jr. ed., 1985).

<sup>58.</sup> James Dorn, Introduction: Reforming the Monetary Regime, 5 Cato J. 675-76 (Winter 1986).

<sup>59.</sup> H. HOLZER, GOVERNMENT'S MONEY MONOPOLY: ITS SOURCE AND SCOPE AND HOW TO FIGHT IT 195-203 (1981).

<sup>60.</sup> U.S. Const. art. 1, § 8, cl. 1.

To borrow Money on the credit of the United States;61

To coin Money, regulate the value thereof, and of foreign Coin;62 and

To provide for the Punishment of counterfeiting the Securities and current Coin of the United States;<sup>63</sup>

and further, that

No Money shall be drawn from the Treasury, but in Consequence of Appropriations made by Law;<sup>64</sup>

No State shall . . . emit Bills of Credit; [or] make any Thing but gold and silver Coin a Tender in Payment of Debts;<sup>65</sup>

Finally, the Constitution explicitly refers to the dollar as the unit of monetary value. 66

This silence about the Constitution by people who are otherwise staunch friends of sound money and honest banking is strange. Why, without citing a definitive interpretation of the monetary powers and disabilities of the Constitution, do they assume that the Constitution does not already subject the grant of the government's power to issue money to rules that limit that power? Indeed, as this article will show, the Founding Fathers *did* embody in the Constitution the principle that the government should adopt a physical unit of a designated commodity as its monetary unit.

## V. REDISCOVERING THE CONSTITUTIONAL DOLLAR

If the time for constitutional reform is still ripe, the means used for such reform must nevertheless fit for the task. The goal must always be to determine the "original intent" of the supreme law. In the area of monetary and banking law, nothing could be more important than ascertaining that original intent with respect to the noun "dollar," which appears once in the Constitution proper<sup>67</sup> and once in the Bill of Rights.<sup>68</sup> The Constitution,

<sup>61.</sup> U.S. CONST. art. I, § 8, cl. 2. This provision must be read in conjunction with Article IX of the Articles of Confederation, which empowered Congress to "emit bills" (*i.e.*, issue paper currency). The constitutional language deletes the power to "emit bills."

<sup>62.</sup> U.S. CONST. art. I, § 8, cl. 5.

<sup>63.</sup> U.S. CONST. art. I, § 8, cl. 6.

<sup>64.</sup> U.S. CONST. art. I, § 9, cl. 7.

<sup>65.</sup> U.S. CONST. art. I, § 10, cl. 1.

<sup>66.</sup> U.S. CONST. art. I, § 9, cl. 1; U.S. CONST. amend. VII.

<sup>67.</sup> See U.S. CONST. art. I,  $\S$  9, cl. 1 ("The Migration or Importation of such Persons as the States now existing shall think proper to admit, shall not be prohibited by the Congress prior to the Year one thousand eight hundred and eight, but a Tax or duty may be imposed . . . not exceeding ten dollars

however, does not define the word "dollar." So what did that word mean to the Founders?

The first step towards elucidating the true meaning of any of the Constitution's terms is "to review the background and environment of the period in which that constitutional language was fashioned and adopted," 69 "to place ourselves as nearly as possible in the condition of the [Framers]," and "to recall the contemporary or then recent history of the controversies on the subject" that still "were fresh in the memories of those who achieved our independence and established our form of government."

#### A. English Common Law in the Colonies

Pre-constitutional English common law is one of the most important legal-historical sources of the meaning of many constitutional provisions. Blackstone's *Commentaries* was the most satisfactory exposition of the law available to Colonial Americans. "At the time of the adoption of the Federal Constitution, [the *Commentaries*] had been published about twenty years, and it has been said that more copies of the work had been sold in this country than in England, so that undoubtedly the framers of the Constitution were familiar with it." Blackstone's discussion of the English monetary powers was detailed:

Money is an universal medium, or common standard, by comparison with which the value of all merchandise may be ascertained: . . . a sign, which represents the respective values of all commodities. Metals are well calculated for this sign, because they are durable and are capable of many subdivisions: and a precious metal is still better cal-

for each Person.").

68. See U.S. Const. amend. VII ("In Suits at common law, where the value in controversy shall not exceed twenty dollars, the right of trial by jury shall be preserved....").

<sup>69.</sup> Everson v. Bd. of Educ., 330 U.S. 1, 8 (1947). *Accord, e.g.*, Pollock v. Farmers' Loan & Trust Co., 157 U.S. 429, 558 (1895); Maxwell v. Dow, 176 U.S. 581, 602 (1900); Grosjean v. Am. Press Co., 297 U.S. 233, 245-49 (1936).

<sup>70.</sup> Ex parte Bain, 121 U.S. 1, 12 (1887). Accord, e.g., South Carolina v. United States, 199 U.S. 437, 450 (1905).

<sup>71.</sup> Boyd v. United States, 116 U.S. 616, 625 (1886).

<sup>72.</sup> E.g., Moore v. United States, 91 U.S. 270, 274 (1876); Ex parte Bain, 121 U.S. at 12; Smith v. Alabama, 124 U.S. 465, 478-79 (1888); Pollock, 157 U.S. at 570-72; United States v. Wong Kim Ark, 169 U.S. 649, 654-55 (1898); Schick v. United States, 195 U.S. 65, 68-70 (1904); South Carolina, 199 U.S. at 449-50; Kansas v. Colorado, 206 U.S. 46, 94-95 (1907); Patton v. United States, 281 U.S. 276, 287, 290 (1930); Dimick v. Schiedt, 293 U.S. 474, 476-82, 487 (1935); United States v. Wood, 299 U.S. 123, 133-39 (1936). See also, e.g., 2 J. STORY, COMMENTARIES ON THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES § 1339 (5th ed. 1891). Story's Commentaries are recognized as a standard work in constitutional law. See, e.g., Field v. Clark, 143 U.S. 649, 670-71 (1892).

<sup>73.</sup> SIR WILLIAM BLACKSTONE, COMMENTARIES ON THE LAWS OF ENGLAND (David S. Berkowitz & Samuel E. Thorne, eds., Amer. ed. 1783).

<sup>74.</sup> Schick, 195 U.S. at 69.

92

culated for this purpose, because it is the most portable. A metal is also the most proper for a common measure, because it can easily be reduced to the same standard in all nations: and every particular nation fixes on it it's own impression, that the weight and standard (wherein consists the intrinsic value) may both be known by inspection only.

The coining of money is in all states the act of the sovereign power; for the reason just mentioned, that it's value may be known on inspection. And with respect to coinage in general, there are three things to be considered therein; the materials, the impression, and the denomination.

With regard to the materials, sir Edward Coke lays it down, that the money of England must either be of gold or silver; and none other was ever issued by the royal authority till 1672, when copper farthings and half-pence were coined by king Charles the second . . . . But this copper coin is not upon the same footing with the other . . . .

As to the impression, the stamping thereof is the unquestionable prerogative of the crown  $\dots$ 

The denomination, or the value for which the coin is to pass current, is likewise in the breast of the king . . . . In order to fix the value, the weight and the fineness of the metal are to be taken into consideration together. When a given weight of gold or silver is of a given fineness, it is then of the true standard, and called . . . sterling metal. And of this . . . sterling metal all the coin of the kingdom must be made, by the statute 25 Edw. III c. 13. So that the king's prerogative seemeth not to extend to the debasing or enhancing the value of the coin, below or above the sterling value . . . . The king may also, by his proclamation, legitimate foreign coin, and make it current here; declaring at what value it shall be taken in payments. But this . . . ought to be by comparison with the standard of our own coin; otherwise the consent of parliament will be necessary. <sup>75</sup>

Thus, Blackstone elaborated three monetary principles of the common law: First, the precious metals are "most proper" for money, the "universal medium, or common standard." Second, the "coin of the kingdom" must consist of gold or silver "of the true standard," in terms of weight and fineness, or, under English common law prior to 1776, the only "money" possible was undebased gold and silver coin. And third, "to fix the value" of domestic or foreign money meant to establish its "intrinsic value" by comparing "the weight and the fineness of the [precious] metal" in a coin with "the true standard, . . . sterling metal." This procedure precluded "de-

<sup>75. 1</sup> BLACKSTONE, supra note 73, at 276, 277-78 (footnotes omitted).

<sup>76.</sup> Blackstone could easily have substituted for his language "fix the value" the equivalent phrase "regulate

# No. 1 The Forgotten Role of the Constitution

basing or inhancing the value of the coin, below or above the sterling value."<sup>77</sup> Specifically, from 1603 through 1816, England followed a bimetallic monetary policy, whereby the law made no change in the character of the silver coinage, but altered the weight and denomination of the gold coinage in order to secure the concurrent circulation of both.<sup>78</sup> As this article will demonstrate, this was also the policy adopted by the Founding Fathers.<sup>79</sup>

The most important early exercise of the power of the Crown in America to legitimate foreign coin, make it current, and declare at what value it shall be taken in payments occurred with the Parliamentary Act of 1707. 80 This Act tabulated the values for each of the foreign coins which commonly passed as payments in America "according to their Weights, and the Assays made of them in our Mint, thereby shewing the just Proportion which each Coin ought to bear to the other," and then commanded that various foreign coins "stand regulated, according to their Weight and Fineness, according and in Proportion to the Rate before limited and set for the pieces of eight of Sevil, Pillar, and Mexico."81 These "pieces of eight" were Spanish silver dollars.82 This act made the dollar the money of account for all foreign coins in the Colonies.

the value" as later appeared in Article I, Section 8, Clause 5 of the Constitution. The two verbs are synonymous. See, e.g., Black's Law Dictionary 1457 (4 rev. ed. 1968) (defining "regulate" as "[t]o fix, establish, or control").

<sup>77. 1</sup> Blackstone, *supra* note 73, at 277-78. The common law did not assert the *economic* error that silver and gold necessarily have "intrinsic value" in the sense of an inherent exchange value, or purchasing power, recognized at all times and in all places. Rather, *legal* "intrinsic value" meant simply the physical amount of pure silver or gold in a coin, measured against the physical amount of precious metal in the "standard." Legal "intrinsic value" is thus an *objective* physical characteristic or quality of a coin, whereas, a coin's purchasing power is a matter of subjective valuation by buyers and sellers in the marketplace. *See* VON MISES, THE THEORY OF MONEY AND CREDIT, *supra* note 2, at 97-123.

<sup>78.</sup> See Sophonisba Preston Breckenridge, Legal Tender: A Study in English and American Monetary History 43-46 (1903).

<sup>79.</sup> Compare Act of Apr. 2, 1792, ch. 16, §§ 9, 11, 1 Stat. 246, 248-49, with Act of June 28, 1834, ch. 45, §§ 1, 3, 4 Stat. 699, 699-700.

<sup>80.</sup> An Act for Ascertaining the Rates of foreign coins in her Majesty's Plantations in America, 1707, 6 Anne, ch. 57.

<sup>81.</sup> Id. at § 1 (emphasis added).

<sup>82.</sup> See, e.g., Sumner, The Spanish Dollar and the Colonial Shilling, 3 AMER. HIST. REV. 607 (1898).

### B. American Money Under the Articles of Confederation

As early as 1776, Congress began to develop a national system of silver and gold coinage on these common law principles, pursuant to what became its explicit power in the Articles of Confederation "of regulating the alloy and value of coin struck by [Congress's] own authority, or by that of the respective States."83 On May 22 of that year, a congressional committee reported on "the value of the several species of gold and silver [coins] current in these colonies, and the proportion they . . . ought to bear to Spanish milled dollars," in which Continental Currency was payable.84 Still presuming that "the holders of bills of credit [*i.e.*, the Continental Currency] will be entitled . . . to receive . . . the amount of said bills in Spanish milled dollars, or the value thereof in gold and silver," on September 2, a committee of Congress recognized:

[T]he value of such dollars is different in proportion as they are more or less worn, and the value of other silver, and of gold coins, . . . when compared with such dollars, is estimated by different rules and proportions in these states, whereby injustice may happen to individuals, to particular states, or to the whole Union . . . , which ought to be prevented by declaring the precise weight and fineness of the s'd Spanish milled dollar . . . now becoming the Money-Unit or common measure of other coins in these states, and by explaining the principles and establishing the rules by which . . . the said common measure shall be applied to other coins in order to estimate their comparative value. 85

The committee then suggested the "principle" that all silver coins ought to be estimated according to the quantity of fine silver they contain, and all gold coins according to the quantity of fine gold they contain and the proportion which the value of fine gold bears to that of fine silver in the marketplace. By this "rule" the committee established a table of values of various silver and gold coins relative to the Spanish milled dollar.

The next year, a congressional committee further recommended that a mint be established for coining money; that as much gold and silver bullion as can be procured be purchased, and that the bullion be coined into money; and that any person who brought gold and silver to the mint should

<sup>83.</sup> ART. OF CONFED. art. IX.

<sup>84. 4</sup> JOURNALS OF THE CONTINENTAL CONGRESS: 1774-1789, at 381-82 (Worthington Chauncey Ford ed., 1906).

<sup>85. 5</sup> id. at 724-25.

<sup>86.</sup> See id. at 725.

<sup>87.</sup> Id. at 726. See also 4 id. at 381-83.

be able to have it coined on his own account.88

In his letter to Congress on January 15, 1782, Robert Morris, Superintendent of the Office of Finance, commented that, "[a]lthough most nations have coined copper, yet that metal is so impure, that it has never been considered as constituting the money standard. This is affixed to the two precious metals, because they alone will admit of having their intrinsic value precisely ascertained."89 "Arguments are unnecessary to shew that the scale by which every thing is to be measured ought to be as fixed as the nature of things will permit," wrote Morris, concluding that "[t]here can be no doubt therefore that our money standard ought to be affixed to silver."90 Although Morris personally favored creating an entirely new standard coin, he recognized that "[t]he various coins which have circulated in America, have undergone different changes in their value, so that there is hardly any which can be considered as a general standard, unless it be Spanish dollars."91

In a plan first published on July 24, 1784, Thomas Jefferson strongly concurred that "[t]he Spanish dollar seems to fulfill all conditions" applicable to fixing the unit of money. Taking into our view all money transactions, great and small, he ventured, I question if a common measure, of more convenient size than the dollar, could be proposed. Equating the unit and the dollar, he wrote:

The unit, or dollar, is a known coin, and the most familiar of all to the minds of people. It is already adopted from south to north; has identified our currency, and therefore happily offers itself as an unit already introduced. Our public debt, our requisitions and their apportionments, have given it actual and long possession of the place of unit.<sup>94</sup>

Yet Jefferson recognized the necessity of certain practical steps to adopt the dollar as the "Money-Unit": "If we determine that a dollar shall be our unit, we must then say with precision what a dollar is. This coin as struck at different times, of different weight and fineness, is of different

<sup>88.</sup> See 7 id. at 138.

<sup>89.</sup> Propositions Respecting the Coinage of Gold, Silver, and Copper 4 (May 13, 1785) (printed folio pamphlet presented to the Continental Congress).

<sup>90.</sup> Id.

<sup>91.</sup> Id. at 5.

<sup>92.</sup> Notes on the Establishment of a Money Mint, and of a Coinage for the United States, Providence Gazette and Country J., July 24, 1784, Propositions Respecting the Coinage of Gold, Silver, and Copper, supra note 89, at 9.

<sup>93.</sup> Propositions Respecting the Coinage of Gold, Silver, and Copper, supra note 89, at 9.

<sup>94.</sup> Id. at 10.

96

values."95 This, Jefferson saw as a problem for economic science to solve through objective measurement, not as a matter for politics to dictate according to arbitrary policy.

If the dollars circulating among us be of every date equal, we should examine the quantity of pure metal in each forming an average for our unit. This is a work proper to be committed to the mathematicians as well as merchants and should be decided on actual and accurate experiments.<sup>96</sup>

"The proportion between the value of gold and silver," he added, "is a mercantile problem altogether." Given "[t]he quantity of fine silver which shall constitute the unit," and "the proportion of the value of gold to that of silver," Jefferson went on, "a table should be formed . . . classing the several foreign coins according to their fineness, declaring the worth . . . in each class, and that they should be lawful tenders at those rates, if not clipped or otherwise diminished." Concluding, he encouraged Congress

To appoint proper persons to assay and examine, with the utmost accuracy practicable, the Spanish milled dollars of different dates in circulation with us.

To assay and examine in like manner the fineness of all the other coins which may be found in circulation within these states . . . .

To appoint also proper persons to enquire what are the proportions between the values of fine gold and fine silver, at the markets of the several countries with which we are or probably may be connected in commerce; and what would be a proper proportion here, having regard to the average of their values at those markets . . . .

To prepare an ordinance for establishing the unit of money within these states . . . on the . . . principle[:]

That the money-unit of these states shall be equal in value to a Spanish milled dollar, containing so much fine silver as the assay  $\dots$  shall shew to be contained on an average in dollars of the several dates in circulation with us.  $^{99}$ 

On May 13, 1785, a committee presented Congress with Propositions

(Here the legislatures [of the States] should co-operate with Congress in providing that no money should be received or paid at their treasuries, or by any of their officers, or any bank, but on actual weight; in making in criminal in a high degree to diminish their own coins, and in some smaller degree to offer them in payment when diminished.)

<sup>95.</sup> Id. at 11.

<sup>96.</sup> Id.

<sup>97.</sup> Id.

<sup>98.</sup> Id. at 12.

<sup>99.</sup> Id.

Respecting the Coinage of Gold, Silver, and Copper, which referred to a plan proposing that the money unit be one dollar. In favor of this Plan, the committee reported, is "that a Dollar, the proposed Unit, has long been in general Use. Its Value is familiar. This accords with the national mode of keeping Accounts. Later, the report referred to the dollar as the "Money of Account," thereby equating that term with the term "Money-Unit. On July 6, 1785, Congress resolved that the money unit of the United States of America be one dollar but did not determine the number of grains of fine silver that historically constituted and defined the dollar. Almost another year elapsed until, on April 8, 1786, the Board of Treasury reported to Congress on the establishment of a mint:

Congress by their Act of the 6th July last resolved, that the Money Unit of the United States should be a Dollar, but did not determine what number of grains of Fine Silver should constitute the Dollar.

We have concluded that Congress by their Act aforesaid, intended the common Dollars that are Current in the United States, and we have made our calculations accordingly.

\* \* \* \* \*

The Money Unit or Dollar will contain three hundred and seventy five grains and sixty four hundredths of a Grain of fine Silver. A Dollar containing this number of Grains of fine Silver, will be worth as much as the New Spanish Dollars. 104

Shortly thereafter, on August 8, 1787, Congress adopted this standard as the money unit of the United States.<sup>105</sup>

Perhaps not surprisingly, the coinage policy of the Continental Congress perfectly paralleled the traditional common law approach. First, Congress retained the precious metals, silver and gold, as money. Second, it adopted a physical measure of silver, historically fixed in terms of weight and fineness, as the national money unit. Third, it regulated the values of all other coinage by comparing their weights, fineness, and customary market exchange ratios to that of the money unit. And fourth, it acknowledged the propriety of permitting the market to trade freely in gold and

<sup>100.</sup> See 28 JOURNALS OF THE CONTINENTAL CONGRESS: 1774-1789, at 381-382 (John C. Fitzpatrick ed., 1933.

<sup>101.</sup> Id. at 355.

<sup>102.</sup> Id. at 357.

<sup>103. 29</sup> id. at 499.

<sup>104.</sup>  $30\ id$ . at 162-63. After ratification of the Constitution, Congress made a more accurate determination of the value of the dollar, setting it at  $371\ {}_{1/4}$  grains of fine silver. See infra text accompanying notes 137-52.

<sup>105. 31</sup> JOURNALS OF THE CONTINENTAL CONGRESS, supra note 84, at 503.

98

silver, and to determine the quantity of money in circulation through the free coinage of those metals. In this manner, Congress recognized the dollar as an absolute constant of weight and fineness of silver, and refrained even from attempting to deflect the purchasing power of money and all monetary exchange ratios from the levels the market set.

# C. American Money Under the Constitution: Hamilton's Proposals

Almost immediately after ratification of the Constitution, Congress and the Executive began work on a national monetary system, under Congress' power to coin money, regulate the value thereof, and of foreign coin. 106 On January 28, 1791, Secretary of the Treasury Alexander Hamilton presented to Congress his *Report on the Subject of a Mint.* 107 "A plan for an establishment of this nature," he wrote, "involves a great variety of considerations—intricate, nice, and important." 108 Indeed, the erection of a mint was essential to the continued integrity of the nation's coinage:

The dollar originally contemplated in the money transactions of this country [i.e., the silver Spanish milled dollar], by successive diminutions of its weight and fineness [in the Spanish mints], has sustained a depreciation of five per cent., and yet the new dollar has a currency in all payments in place of the old, with scarcely any attention to the difference between them. The operation of this in depreciating the value of property depending upon past contracts, and . . . of all other property, is apparent. Nor can it require argument to prove that a nation ought not to suffer the value of the property of its citizens to fluctuate with the fluctuations of a foreign mint, or to change with the changes in the regulations of a foreign sovereign. This, nevertheless, is the condition of one which, having no coins of its own, adopts with implicit confidence those of other countries.

The unequal values allowed in different parts of the Union to coins of the same intrinsic worth . . . are inconveniences . . . .

It was with great reason, therefore, that the attention of Congress, under the late Confederation, was repeatedly drawn to the establishment of a mint; and it is with equal reason that the subject has been resumed . . . . <sup>109</sup>

To form "a right judgment of what ought to be done," Hamilton posed several important questions:

<sup>106.</sup> See U.S. Const. art. I, § 8, cl. 5.

<sup>107.</sup> See H.R. DOC. No. 24, 1st Cong., 3d Sess. (1791) ("Hamilton's Report"), in 2 THE DEBATES AND PROCEEDINGS IN THE CONGRESS OF THE UNITED STATES, at app. 2059 (J. Gales compil., 1834).

<sup>108.</sup> Id.

<sup>109.</sup> Id. at 2060.

# No. 1 The Forgotten Role of the Constitution

- 1st. What ought to be the nature of the money unit of the United States?
- 2d. What the proportion between gold and silver, if coins of both metals are to be established?

. . . .

- 4th. Whether the expense of coinage shall be defrayed by the Government, or out of the material itself?
  - 5th. What shall be the . . . denominations . . . of the coins?
- 6th. Whether foreign coins shall be permitted to be current or not; if the former, at what rate, and for what period?<sup>110</sup>

110. Id. at 2061.

100

## Vol. 2

## 1. Bimetallic System

Recognizing that a "pre-requisite to determining with propriety what ought to be the money-unit of the United States" is "to form as accurate an idea as the nature of the case will admit, of what it actually is," but claiming that "it is not . . . easy to pronounce what is to be considered the unit in the coins," Hamilton referred to the resolutions of the Continental Congress on the subject, noted that they had resulted in "no formal regulation on the point, (the resolutions of Congress of the July 6, 1785, and August 8, 1786, having never been carried into operation)," and concluded that "usage and practice . . . indicate the dollar as best entitled to that character."111 What Hamilton meant by saying the resolutions of the Continental Congress had "never been carried into operation" is unclear. Certainly, Congress had formally resolved that the money unit of the United States be one dollar, and had adopted a dollar containing 375 64/100 grains of silver as the money unit of the United States. 112 However, no coins of that weight had been minted, and, the resolutions of the Continental Congress were not binding on the Congress seated under aegis of the Constitution.

As to "what kind of dollar ought to be understood; or, in other words, what precise quantity of fine silver," 113 Hamilton surveyed the various pieces in circulation over the years and recommended that "[t]he actual dollar in common circulation, has . . . a much better claim to be regarded as the actual money unit." 114 This would have set the intrinsic value of the dollar as "something between 368 and 374 grains of fine silver." 115

From this, no debate is possible as to Hamilton's—and, one may infer, everyone else's—understanding that, as of January 1791, the dollar was no abstract concept, but instead a real silver coin. This provides further evidence fixing the meaning of the term in the Constitution.<sup>116</sup>

Hamilton recognized that the suggestions and proceedings in the Continental Congress had for object the annexing of the title of "money unit" emphatically to the silver dollar. Nevertheless, and without adverting to the Constitution's references to the dollar, he put forward the view that "a preference ought to be given to neither of the metals for the money

V

<sup>111.</sup> *Id.* 

<sup>112.</sup> See supra text accompanying notes 100-05.

<sup>113.</sup> Hamilton's Report, supra note 107, at 2061-62.

<sup>114.</sup> Id. at 2062-63.

<sup>115.</sup> Id. at 2063.

<sup>116.</sup> See U.S. CONST. art. I, § 9, cl. 1; U.S. CONST. amend. VII.

<sup>117.</sup> See Hamilton's Report, supra note 107, at 2064.

unit."118 His reasoning was opaque:

A resolution of Congress, of the 6th of July, 1785, declares that the money unit of the United States shall be a dollar; and another resolution of the 8th of August, 1786, fixes that dollar at 375 grains and 64 hundredths of a grain of fine silver. The same resolution, however, determines, that there shall be two gold coins, one . . . equal to ten dollars, and the other . . . equal to five dollars; and it is not explained whether either of the two species of coins, of gold or silver, shall have any greater legality in payments than the other. Yet it would seem that a preference in this particular is necessary to execute the idea of attaching the unit exclusively to one kind. If each of them be as valid as the other in payments to any amount, it is not obvious in what effectual sense either of them can be deemed the money unit rather than the other.<sup>119</sup>

Actually, it is obvious: in a traditional bimetallic system, when the free-market exchange ratio diverges significantly from the statutory exchange ratio, the legal value of the "money unit" remains unchanged, but the legal value of the other metal should be regulated up or down to conform the statutory ratio to the market ratio. In a dual monetary system in which no statutory ratio is fixed, but the law treats the free-market ratio as the legal ratio, the legal value of the "money unit" remains unchanged. However, the legal value of the other metal "floats" with the market. In a practical sense, of course, it may not matter which metal is chosen as the "unit" in either system, as long as the choice is clear.

Although Hamilton personally proposed gold as the unit, rather than silver, "if either were to be preferred," he concluded that it would be

most advisable . . . not to attach the unit exclusively to either of the metals; because this cannot be done effectually, without destroying the office and character of one of them as money and reducing it to the situation of a mere merchandise . . . which would probably be a greater evil than occasional variations in the unit, from the fluctuations in the relative value of the metals; especially if care be taken to regulate the proportion between them with an eye to their average commercial value. 120

In this he was partially correct: because converting coins into specie is a costly process, the market exchange ratio between the two metals in a bimettalic system can vary within a narrow range without one metal's driving the other out of circulation.<sup>121</sup> But Hamilton was incorrect to suggest

<sup>118.</sup> Id.

<sup>119.</sup> Id.

<sup>120.</sup> Id. at 2065.

<sup>121.</sup> See, e.g., Milton Friedman, Bimetallism Revisited, 4 J. ECON. PERSPECTIVES 85, 90 (Fall 1990) (noting that costs are incurred under a bimetallic standard in converting the undervalued coins into specie and selling the specie

that this economic process depends on whether one or both metals in a bimetallic system retains the formal legal designation of "unit."

"If, then," Hamilton went on, "the unit ought not to be attached exclusively to either of the metals, the proportion which ought to subsist between them in the coins becomes . . . of no inconsiderable moment." Once again, he was mistaken. In a bimetallic system with a fixed statutory exchange ratio, the proportion between the two metals is critical to their concurrent circulation—whether one metal, both metals, or neither metal is formally designated the unit.

Hamilton proposed two options: either "[t]o approach as nearly as can be ascertained, the . . . average proportion . . . in . . . the commercial world," or "[t]o retain that which now exists in the United States." Because the first alternative required "better materials than are possessed, or than could be obtained without an inconvenient delay," he recommended the domestic market ratio of "about as 1 to 15." There can hardly be a better rule in any country for the legal than the market proportion," he explained, "if this can be supposed to have been produced by the free and steady course of commercial principles. The presumption in such a case is that each metal finds its true level, according to its intrinsic utility, in the general system of money operations." 125

Interestingly, although Hamilton recognized that the market ratio should be the legal ratio, he did not recommend that Congress fix the statutory ratio as the market ratio without declaring what that ratio was. That idea came to the fore, but still not into the coinage acts, only forty years later.<sup>126</sup> Congress's neglect in this regard doomed the bimetallic system.<sup>127</sup>

# 2. Free Coinage

Hamilton then turned to the issue of "free coinage," which he characterized as "one of the nicest questions in the doctrine of money." Hamilton recommended "defraying the expense of the coinage out of the metals . . . to allow at the mint such a price only for those metals as will

on the market, and that these costs define the upper and lower gold-silver price ratio points between which the market ratio can vary without producing the complete replacement of one metal by the other).

<sup>122.</sup> Hamilton's Report, supra note 107, at 2066.

<sup>123.</sup> Id. at 2068.

<sup>124.</sup> Id.

<sup>125.</sup> Id. at 2069.

<sup>126.</sup> See Report of the House Select Committee on Coins (February 22, 1831), in 7 REGISTER OF DEBATES IN CONGRESS, at app. cxlviii (Gales & Seaton eds., 1834).

<sup>127.</sup> The ratio of 15:1 was the free-market ratio at the time. But soon the ratio rose to meet the legal ratio in France, which was 15.5:1. Congress did not respond until 1834, when it altered the legal ratio to 16:1. *See* Friedman, *supra* note 121, at 88.

<sup>128.</sup> Hamilton's Report, supra note 107, at 2071.

admit of profit just sufficient to satisfy the expense of coinage."<sup>129</sup> In the course of analyzing this issue, Hamilton restated in emphatic terms the traditional policy against monetary debasement:

[R]aising the denomination of the coin [is] a measure which has been disapproved by the wisest men in the nations in which it has been practised, and condemned by the rest of the world. To declare that a less weight of gold or silver shall pass for the same sum, which before represented a greater weight, or to ordain that the same weight shall pass for a greater sum, are things substantially of one nature. The consequence of either of them . . . is to degrade the money unit; obliging creditors to receive less than their just dues, and depreciating property of every kind . . . . <sup>130</sup>

- . . . [T]he quantity of gold and silver in the national coins, corresponding with a given sum, cannot be made less than heretofore without disturbing the balance of intrinsic value, and making every acre of land, as well as every bushel of wheat, of less actual worth than in time past . . . .
- . . . [A] rise of prices proportioned to the diminution of the intrinsic value of the coins . . . might be looked for in every enlightened commercial country; but, perhaps, in none with greater certainty than in this; because in none are men less liable to be the dupes of sounds; in none has authority so little resource for substituting names for things.

A general revolution in prices . . . could not fail to distract the ideas of the community, and would be apt to breed discontents as well among those who live on the income of their money as among the poorer classes of the people, to whom the necessaries of life would . . . become dearer . . . .

Among the evils attendant on such an operation are these: creditors, both of the public and of individuals would lose a part of their property; public and private credits would receive a wound; the effective revenues of the Government would be diminished. There is scarcely any point, in the economy of national affairs, of greater moment than the uniform preservation of the intrinsic value of the money unit. On this the security and steady value of property essentially depend.<sup>131</sup>

## 3. Coin Denominations

On the question of the denominations of the coins, Hamilton recom-

<sup>129.</sup> Id. at 2073.

<sup>130.</sup> Id. at 2071.

<sup>131.</sup> Id. at 2072-73.

104

mended two equivalent statutory money units based on weight, a gold coin of 24 3/4 grains of fine gold, and a silver coin of 371 1/4 grains of fine silver. "[N]othing better," he wrote, "can be done . . . than to pursue the track marked out by the resolution [of the Continental Congress] of the 8th of August, 1786."<sup>132</sup> Specifically, he proposed (among other coins) "[o]ne gold piece, equal in weight and value to ten units, or dollars," "[o]ne gold piece, equal to a tenth part of the former, and which shall be a unit or dollar," and "[o]ne silver piece, which shall also be a unit or dollar."<sup>133</sup> "The chief inducement to the establishment of the small gold piece," he argued, "is to have a sensible object in that metal, as well as in silver, to express the unit."<sup>134</sup> He continued,

The [silver] dollar is recommended by its correspondency with the present coin of that name for which it is designed to be a substitute [i.e., the Spanish milled dollar], which will facilitate its ready adoption as such, in the minds of the citizens. . . . Perhaps it might be an improvement to let the dollar have the appellation either of dollar or unit . . . . In time the unit may succeed to the dollar . . . .

The eagle is not a very expressive or apt appellation for the largest gold piece, but nothing better occurs. The smallest of the two gold coins may be called the dollar or unit, in common with the silver piece with which it coincides. . . .

As it is of consequence to fortify the idea of the identity of the dollar, it may be best to let the form and size of the new one . . . agree with the form and size of the present. $^{135}$ 

Once again, Hamilton identified the then-existing dollar—the dollar mentioned in the Constitution—with the Spanish milled dollar: "the present coin of that name for which it [i.e., the new United States dollar] is designed to be a substitute." His apparent hope that the term "dollar" would eventually conflate with or collapse into the term "unit" mirrored his idea that both silver and gold would serve in that capacity simultaneously. However, his *Report* nowhere explained how, when the free-market exchange ratio between silver and gold changed (as he expected it would), the legal values of the silver and gold units would change. If, for example, silver appreciated as against gold, would an extant silver dollar be valued at more than a dollar; or would an extant "gold dollar" be valued at less? Thus, in this particular context, Hamilton's idea of two parallel units was, if

<sup>132.</sup> Id. at 2082.

<sup>133.</sup> Id. at 2071.

<sup>134.</sup> Id. at 2083.

<sup>135.</sup> Id. at 2083-84.

# No. 1 The Forgotten Role of the Constitution

not incoherent, at least operationally incomplete. Neither did the *Report* explain how Hamilton's new unit (of silver or gold) could succeed to the dollar mentioned in the Constitution, unless that unit always maintained the same value as that dollar—in which case the silver unit was the true unit, the gold unit a unit only so long as the free-market exchange ratio between silver and gold remained at the point Hamilton recommended that Congress adopt.

## 4. Foreign Coins

As to "the currency of foreign coins," Hamilton recommended the eventual "abolition of this, in proper season, [when] some considerable progress has been made in preparing substitutes for them," but

foreign coins may be suffered to circulate precisely on their present footing for one year after the mint shall have commenced its operations. The privilege may then be continued for another year to the gold coins of Portugal, England, and France, and to the silver coins of Spain. And these may still be permitted to be current for one year more at the rates allowed to be given for them at the mint; after the expiration of which the circulation of all foreign coins to cease. . . .

It may, nevertheless, be advisable . . . to repose a discretionary authority in the President of the United States, to continue the currency of the Spanish dollar at a value corresponding with the quantity of fine silver contained in it, beyond the period above mentioned for the cessation of the circulation of the foreign coins. 136

Thus, Hamilton's *Report* restated the traditional monetary principles of Anglo-American common law, as Blackstone had recapitulated them, as the Continental Congress had applied them, and as the Federal Convention had embodied them in the Constitution. Congress, Hamilton urged, should adopt silver and gold as the nation's monetary substances, at an exchange ratio representing the proportionate value between the metals in the domestic free market. Congress should continue on the track marked out under the Articles of Confederation and the Constitution by employing the dollar as the money-unit—a silver dollar derived directly from the Spanish milled dollar, and a new gold coin containing a silver dollar's worth of that metal. The government should provide free coinage of both silver and gold, should allow for temporary circulation of foreign silver and gold coins, and should preserve the intrinsic value of the coinage. Hamilton's one innovation was his notion of a "gold dollar" which would also be the unit, along with the (silver) dollar.

136. Id. at 2085-86.

## D. The Coinage Act of 1792

Little more than a year later, Congress enacted these traditional principles into law, at the same time rejecting Hamilton's innovation. The Coinage Act of 1792137 initiated a new statutory system embodying the common law and constitutional principles Hamilton had re-affirmed in his Report. Congress followed common law tradition by continuing the use of silver, gold, and copper as "Money." 138 It reiterated the judgment of the Continental Congress and the Constitution that "the money of account of the United States shall be expressed in dollars or units,"139 and defined the "Dollars or Units" in terms of weight, as "of the value of a Spanish milled dollar as the same is now current, and to contain three hundred and seventy-one grains and four sixteenth parts of a grain of pure . . . silver."140 Recognizing that to adopt Hamilton's suggestion of a parallel "gold dollar" would cause confusion, Congress created no such coin, instead mandating the coinage of "Eagles," "each to be of the value of ten dollars or units,"141 that is, of the weight of the fine gold equivalent in the marketplace to 3,71 1/4 grains of fine silver. Following Hamilton's recommendation, though, it fixed "the proportional value of gold to silver in all coins which shall by law be current as money within the United States" at "fifteen to one, according to quantity in weight, of pure gold or pure silver."142 And it made "all the gold and silver coins . . . issued from the . . . mint . . . a lawful tender in all payments whatsoever, those of full weight according to the respective values . . . [established in the Act], and those of less than full weight at values proportional to their respective weights."143 Congress also provided free coinage,144 and affixed the penalty of death for the

[I]t shall be lawful for any person . . . to bring to the . . . mint gold and silver bullion, in order to their being coined; and that the bullion so brought shall be . . . coined as speedily as may be after the receipt thereof, and that free of expense to the person . . . by whom the same shall have been brought. And as soon as the said bullion shall have been coined, the person . . . by whom the same shall have been delivered, shall upon demand receive in lieu thereof coins of the same species of bullion which shall have been so delivered, weight for weight, of the pure gold or pure silver therein contained: *Provided nevertheless*, That it shall be at the mutual option of the party . . bringing such bullion, and of the director of the . . . mint, to make an immediate exchange of coins for standard bullion, with a deduction of one half per cent from the weight of the pure gold, or pure silver contained in the said bullion, as an indemnification to the mint for the time which will neces-

<sup>137.</sup> Act of Apr. 2, 1792, ch. 16, 1 Stat. 246.

<sup>138. § 9, 1</sup> Stat. at 248.

<sup>139. § 20, 1</sup> Stat. at 250.

<sup>140. § 9, 1</sup> Stat. at 248. Because a troy ounce contains 480 grains, an ounce of coined silver was worth \$1.292929292—a number that would appear again and again in American monetary history.

<sup>141. § 9, 1</sup> Stat. at 248.

<sup>142. § 9, 1</sup> Stat. 246, 248.

<sup>143. § 16, 1</sup> Stat. at 250.

<sup>144. § 14, 1</sup> Stat. at 249:

crime of debasing the coinage.145

This statute is hugely significant in several respects: First, Congress determined, as an historical fact, the meaning of the term "dollar" as used in the Constitution<sup>146</sup>—to wit, "the Spanish milled dollar as the same is now current," containing 371 1/4 grains of fine silver.<sup>147</sup> This contemporary factual construction of the Constitution fixes its meaning:

We have . . . a construction of the Constitution made by a Congress which was to provide by legislation for the organization of the Government in accord with the Constitution which had just then been adopted, and in which there were, as representatives and senators, a considerable number of those who had been members of the Convention that framed the Constitution and presented it for ratification. It was the Congress that launched the Government. It was the Congress that rounded out the Constitution itself by the proposing of the first ten amendments which had in effect been promised to the people as a consideration for the ratification. It was the Congress in which Mr. Madison, one of the first in the framing of the Constitution, led also in the organization of the Government under it. It was a Congress whose constitutional decisions have always been regarded. as they should be regarded, as of the greatest weight in the interpretation of that fundamental instrument. This construction was followed by the legislative department and the executive department continuously . . . . [A] contemporaneous legislative exposition of the Constitution when the founders of our Government and framers of our Constitution were actively participating in public affairs, acquiesced in for a long term of years, fixes the construction to be given its provisions. 148

Thereafter, Congress could not change that construction<sup>149</sup> or otherwise alter the constitutional definition of the dollar<sup>150</sup>—and for more than a century it never attempted to do so.

145. § 19, 1 Stat. at 250.

sarily be required for coining the said bullion, and for the advance which shall have been so made in coins.

<sup>§ 14, 1</sup> Stat. at 249.

<sup>146.</sup> U.S. CONST. art. I, § 9, cl. 1; U.S. CONST. amend. VII.

<sup>147. § 9, 1</sup> Stat. 246, 248 (emphasis added).

<sup>148.</sup> Myers v. United States, 272 U.S. 52, 174-75 (1926) (citing Stuart v. Laird, 5 U.S. (1 Cranch.) 299, 309 (1803)); Martin v. Hunter's Lessee, 14 U.S. (1 Wheat.) 304, 351 (1816); Cohens v. Virginia, 19 U.S. (6 Wheat.) 264, 420 (1821); Prigg v. Pennsylvania, 41 U.S. (16 Pet.) 539, 621 (1842); Cooley v. Board of Wardens, 53 U.S. (12 How.) 299, 315 (1851); Burrow-Giles Lithographing Co. v. Sarony, 111 U.S. 53, 57 (1884); Ames v. Kansas *ex rel.* Johnson, 111 U.S. 449, 463-69 (1884); *The Laura*, 114 U.S. 411, 416 (1885); Wisconsin v. Pelican Ins. Co., 127 U.S. 265, 297 (1888); McPherson v. Blacker, 146 U.S. 1, 28, 33, 35 (1892); Knowlton v. Moore, 178 U.S. 41, 56 (1900); Fairbank v. United States, 181 U.S. 283, 308 (1901); and *Ex parte* Grossman, 267 U.S. 87, 118 (1925).

<sup>149.</sup> See Myers, 272 U.S. at 150-52.

<sup>150.</sup> *See* Eisner v. Macomber, 252 U.S. 189, 206 (1920). "Congress may not by any definition it may adopt conclude the matter, since it cannot by legislation alter the Constitution, from which it alone derives its power to legislate, and within whose limitations alone that power can be lawfully exercised." *Id.* at 206.

Second, Congress made crystal clear that the unit of the money system is the silver dollar: "Dollars or Units—each to be of the value of a Spanish milled dollar as the same is now current, and to contain [371 1/4 grains of pure silver]";151 and "the money of account of the United States shall be expressed in dollars or units, . . . and . . . all accounts in the public offices and all proceedings in the courts of the United States shall be kept and had in conformity to this regulation."152 So, Congress did not create a "gold dollar," or establish a "gold standard," as the popular misconception holds. For example, one edition of The Encyclopedia Britannica claims the "dollar . . . was defined in the Coinage Act of 1792 as either 24.75 gr. (troy) of fine gold or 371.25 gr. (troy) of fine silver." The act did nothing of the kind. It explicitly defined the "dollar" as a fixed weight of silver, and regulate[d] the value of gold coins according to this standard unit and the market exchange ratio between the two metals. Nowhere did the act refer to a gold dollar, only to various gold coins of other names that it valued in dollars: "EAGLES—each to be of the value of ten dollars or units," 154 not to be "ten dollars or units." Some students of monetary law and history have avoided this elementary mistake, 155 including at one time the Supreme Court. 156 But even legal scholars have stumbled badly over it. For example, at the height of the great monetary and constitutional crisis of the 1930s, when lawyers should have been thinking clearly about both subjects, one law review commentator contended that "[o]ur [gold] dollar at its inception was merely a money of account. The distinction is revived by . . . recent legislation"—by which he meant that no gold dollar was coined in 1792 or in 1934.<sup>157</sup> In one sense he was correct: No gold dollar was coined pursuant to the 1792 Act. But in a larger sense, he was woefully mistaken: The 1792 act recognized no gold dollar that might have been (but happened not to be) coined. The only dollar and unit was the silver dollar, which was coined.

The "of the value of" language proves more than that no gold dollars existed in 1792. It also shows that the United States *statutory* dollar of 1792 was not the *constitutional* dollar of 1789, but a *new* dollar with the

<sup>151. § 9, 1</sup> Stat. at 248.

<sup>152. § 20, 1</sup> Stat. at 250-51.

<sup>153. 7</sup> ENCYCLOPEDIA BRITANNICA Dollar 558 (1963).

<sup>154. § 9, 1</sup> Stat. at 248.

<sup>155.</sup> See, e.g., A. BARTON HEPBURN, HISTORY OF COINAGE AND CURRENCY IN THE UNITED STATES AND THE PERENNIAL CONTEST FOR SOUND MONEY 22 (1903); HARVEY, supra note 41, at 101-104.

<sup>156.</sup> Bronson v. Rodes, 74 U.S. (7 Wall.) 229, 247-48 (1868).

<sup>157.</sup> J. Eder Phanor, *Legal Theories of Money*, 20 CORNELL L. REV. 52, 70 (1934). In footnotes, Eder cites section 20 of the Coinage Act of 1792 and, referring to then-contemporary events, he states: "The new gold dollar of fifteen  $_{15/21}$  grains is not coinable." *Id.* at n.71-72 (citing Gold Reserve Act of Jan. 30, 1934, § 5; 43 Stat. 340).

value of the historical constitutional dollar: "Dollars or Units—each to be of the value of a Spanish milled dollar as the same is now current." Of course, this *must* have been true because the constitutional dollar *had* to *pre*-exist both the Constitution and the 1792 Act. Thus, with respect to the dollar, both the Constitution and the 1792 Act vindicated the economic analysis of Carl Menger, who pointed out that money is not the invention of government, and requires no political authorization for its use.<sup>158</sup>

Third, Congress reiterated the understanding that the legal value of money is no abstraction subject to arbitrary definition, but consists in a coin's *actual weight* in precious metal. Silver and gold coins were to be "lawful tender in all payments . . . , those of *full weight* according to the respective values . . . declared [in the Act], and those of *less than full weight* at values proportional to their respective *weights*." Even the Supreme Court has been able, at one time, to comprehend the significance of this. 160

Fourth, the provisions defining the dollar and declaring the money of account—that "Dollars or Units" are "each to be of the value of a Spanish milled dollar as the same is now current, and to contain [371 1/4 grains of pure silver]";161 and that "the money of account of the United States is to be expressed dollars or units"162—carry with them a heavy historic tradition. Pointing in the correct direction (although otherwise in error) was the theory of the law review commentator quoted above that "[o]ur [gold] dollar at its inception was merely a money of account."163 As is generally true of monetary phenomena, historically, a money of account was not an invention of government, but developed from the commercial practice of maintaining accounts in units of money. For centuries, a money of account—often called "imaginary" money, because such a monetary unit was not reified in an actual coin—served as the standard of deferred payments, or as an accounting device. Actual payments, however, were

<sup>158.</sup> CARL MENGER, PRINCIPLES OF ECONOMICS: FIRST GENERAL PART 261-62 (James Dingwall and Bert F. Hoselitz trans., 1950). Of course, subsequent events have also proven Menger correct on the devolution of money:

<sup>[</sup>Governments] have so often and so greatly misused their power that economizing individuals eventually almost forgot the fact that a coin is nothing but a precious metal of fixed fineness and weight . . . . Doubts even arose as to whether money was a commodity at all. Indeed, it was finally declared to be something entirely imaginary resting solely on human convenience.

Id. at 283.

<sup>159.</sup> Act of Apr. 2, 1792, ch. 16, § 16, 1 Stat. 246, 250 (emphasis added).

<sup>160.</sup> See Bronson, 74 U.S. (7 Wall.) at 248-49.

<sup>161. § 9, 1</sup> Stat. at 248.

<sup>162. § 20, 1</sup> Stat. at 250.

<sup>163.</sup> See supra text accompanying note 158 (emphasis added).

made in various gold or silver coins in circulation at the time. 164 A money of account serves no purpose in a monometallic system; but in a bimetallic system the device can be used to adjust the legal ratio between silver and gold coins to the market exchange ratio between the two metals, by "crying the currency up or down,"-that is, by increasing or decreasing the values of real coins in terms of the money of account. This would maintain parity between the legal exchange rate of gold to silver and the metals' relative prices in the free market. 165 One of the strengths of the use of a money of account was that a government could dispense with a mint, by giving "currency" to foreign coins—that is, adopting those coins as part of its official money supply by valuing them in terms of the domestic money of account. 166 The main drawback, however, was that changes in the legal exchange rate between gold and silver were not contemporaneous with changes in the free-market exchange rate. A practical solution to this problem would have been to make the legal exchange rate compulsory only in the absence of the parties' contractual agreement to the contrary. This would have obviated the inherent instability of the bimetallic system. 167 Unfortunately, after the late 1700s, legislators and economists apparently forgot the concept of "imaginary money." 168

In the 1792 Act, the "Spanish milled dollar as the same is now current" can be analogized to an imaginary money in the sense that it was the true, historic unit money of account of the monetary system, but was not to be (because it could not be) coined as such by the United States. All United States silver coins would, however, be permanently regulated in value<sup>169</sup> to this money of account at the ratio of 371 1/4 grains of coined silver to the dollar. And all gold coins would be regulated in value at the free-market exchange rate as proclaimed from time to time by Congress. Initially, Congress chose a statutory denomination of gold "EAGLES" in terms of (silver) dollars.<sup>170</sup>

Congress would have been wiser not to have employed a statutory bimetallic ratio at all, and to have set no statutory dollar values on the gold coins at the mint, instead striking them simply as "Eagles" with a stamped certification of their content of fine gold when at full weight, and letting their

**<sup>164</sup>**. Einaudi, *The Theory of Imaginary Money from Charlemagne to the French Revolution, in* ENTERPRISE AND SECULAR CHANGE: READINGS IN ECONOMIC HISTORY 229, 233-36 (Frederic Chapin Lane ed., 1953).

<sup>165.</sup> See id. at 245.

<sup>166.</sup> Id. at 250, 252.

<sup>167.</sup> See id. at 251.

<sup>168.</sup> See id. at 246.

<sup>169.</sup> U.S. CONST. art. I, § 8, cl. 5.

<sup>170.</sup> Act of Apr. 2, 1792, ch. 16 § 9, 1 Stat. 246, 248.

values in dollars be set from day to day in the market.<sup>171</sup> If silver and gold are perfect substitutes as money, the exchange ratio parity between them can be arbitrarily fixed; whereas, if they are imperfect substitutes, statutorily fixing the bimetallic ratio is not feasible. 172 Silver and gold would be imperfect substitutes as money if creditors refused to accept one or the other in payment of debts—for example, where creditors found the weight of silver coin disadvantageous compared to the weight of gold coins of the same free-market value, or where creditors foresaw a depreciation in the purchasing power of one metal relative to the other. Thus, the greater the free-market exchange ratio between equivalent weights of silver and gold, the greater the metals' imperfection as monetary substitutes for each other, and the less likely a fixed bimetallic ratio will work. So, instead of fixing the bimetallic ratio in 1792 (and at other times thereafter), Congress should have simply minted gold EAGLES without any dollar denominations, and allowed their dollar values to be regulated from day to day in the free market. 174 This would have resulted in a system of dual prices—with some goods and services priced in (silver) dollars, and other goods and services prices in Eagles, in gold, or in "dollars payable in gold" (that is, the weight of coined gold equivalent on that day to the price of the particular good or service stated in silver dollars). 175 In addition, such an approach would have had a great and lasting educational value, by reminding people every day that money is merely a commodity, with no stable purchasing power.176

Adopting a statutory scheme more closely modeled on the traditional money of account approach would not have obviated all problems. For instance, rogue public officials intent on cheating the people could still have devalued the coinage by "crying up" the coin (statutorily raising its nominal value) in relation to the money of account.<sup>177</sup> But it would have avoided the problems the country later faced with the bimetallic system,

<sup>171.</sup> This procedure was in fact proposed in the early 1830's when correction of the exchange ratio between silver and gold in the coinage-system came before Congress. *See supra* text accompanying notes 133-26

<sup>172.</sup> Chau-nan Chen, Bimetallism: Theory and Controversy in Perspective, 4 HIST. POL. ECON. 89, 96 and 111 (1972).

<sup>173.</sup> See id. at 101.

<sup>174.</sup> Congress can constitutionally exercise its "regulatory" authority as well by leaving determination of exchange ratios to the free market as by itself fixing prices statutorily. *See, e.g.*, cases under the Commerce Clause holding that Congress' decision not to regulate amounts to a "regulation" in favor of a free market, *cited in* Southern Pacific Co. v. Arizona, 325 U.S. 761, 769 (1945).

<sup>175.</sup> See Chau-nan Chen, Flexible Bimetallic Exchange Rates in China, 1650-1850: A Historical Example of Optimum Currency Areas, 7 J. MONEY, CREDIT AND BANKING 359 (1975). Chen defines "duometallism" as a bimetallic system with a floating exchange-rate. *Id.* at 361.

<sup>176.</sup> See Einaudi, supra note 164, at 256-57.

<sup>177.</sup> Id. at 258-59.

112

and certainly overall could not have worked out more unfavorably than the present monetary system, in which the dollar is a wholly imaginary concept, reified willy-nilly in silver, gold, base-metallic "sandwich" coins, and legal tender paper currency.<sup>178</sup>

Fifth, the reliance of Congress on a statutorily defined bimetallic system in the 1792 Act was not entirely an unworkable project. True, such a system is clumsy because it requires careful legislative oversight to amend the statutory ratio between silver and gold as the free-market ratio changes in order to maintain concurrent circulation of both metals. Nevertheless, the history of France from 1785 to 1873 proves that, notwithstanding significant changes in the relative production of silver and gold, a bimetallic system can remain stable where the national economy is large in comparison to the world economy, and where people actually use silver and gold as coins for daily transactions and as reserves for bank notes and deposits.<sup>179</sup>

Interestingly, the 1792 Act<sup>180</sup> did not purport to guarantee that silver and gold would in fact exchange in the marketplace at fifteen to one. For example, the statute lacked a provision allowing a person to bring silver (or gold) bullion to the mint to exchange for gold (or silver) coins. To the contrary: The Act explicitly provided that "as soon as the . . . bullion shall have been coined, the person . . . by whom the same shall have been delivered, shall upon demand receive in lieu thereof coins of the same species of bullion which shall have been delivered." The government's only representation was that, for the time being (for Congress always retained the power to change the bimetallic ratio), it would accept silver and gold at fifteen to one "in all payments" to it. 182 Moreover, although the 1792 Act mandated that "[a]II the gold and silver coins . . . shall be a lawful tender in all payments whatsoever,"183 nothing in that or any other act (until the 1930s) precluded individuals from entering into "gold-clause" or "silverclause" contracts specifying which of the metals would be their exclusive medium of payment.<sup>184</sup> Indeed, in the post-Civil War Greenback era, the Supreme Court held that such contracts were exempt from the law de-

V

<sup>178.</sup> See supra text accompanying notes 26-32.

<sup>179.</sup> See Friedman, supra note 121, at 88-89, 99.

<sup>180.</sup> Act. of Apr. 2, 1792, ch. 16, § 14, 1 Stat. 246, 249.

<sup>181. § 14, 1</sup> Stat. at 249.

<sup>182. §§ 11, 16, 1</sup> Stat. at 248-49, 250.

<sup>183. § 16, 1</sup> Stat. at 250.

<sup>184.</sup> The relative popularity of "gold-clause" and "silver-clause" contracts fluctuated with changes in the relative purchasing powers of the metals. *See, e.g.*, Holyoke Water Power Co. v. American Writing Paper Co., 68 F.2d 261, 262 (1st Cir. 1933).

claring United States Notes a legal tender. 185 that such contracts had to be valued in terms of specie dollars, 186 and that such contracts were enforceable for their values in specie.187 No court in the late 1700s and early 1800s would have ruled any differently.

In sum, the Coinage Act of 1792 demonstrates the first Congress's adherence to the common law and constitutional principles elucidated heretofore. Congress coined American "Dollars or Units" as Money containing the intrinsic value of silver in a constitutional dollar, (i.e., a Spanish milled dollar as was then current). It coined American Eagles as Money containing a fixed weight of pure gold and regulated their value in dollars by comparing their intrinsic value in (or weight of) fine gold to the market equivalent of coined silver. It gave both silver and gold coins legal tender character for their intrinsic values in all payments. It opened the mint to free coinage of the precious metals, and it outlawed debasement of the nation's new Money.

All of this is hardly surprising. For the statesmen who drafted and approved these measures were more than merely conversant with common law principles, the experiences of the Continental Congress, and the monetary provisions of the Constitution. And their handiwork was more than a coincidental embodiment of those principles, experiences, and provisions. Rather, taking into account the vicissitudes of the time, the Coinage Act of 1792 perfectly reflected what the common law and the law under the Articles of Confederation had been before ratification of the Constitution, and what the constitutional law was then and remains today. 188 It definitively interpreted, elaborated, and applied the Constitution with a clearly constitutional character of its own in sections 9 (definition of the dollar), 14 (free coinage of silver and gold), 16 (legal-tender character

<sup>185.</sup> See Bronson v. Rodes, 74 U.S. (7 Wall.) 229, 254 (1869).

<sup>186.</sup> See Thompson v. Butler, 95 U.S. 694, 696-97 (1877); See Norman v. Baltimore & Ohio R.R., 294 U.S. 240, 300-302 (1935) (affirming interpretation of "gold clauses").

<sup>187.</sup> See, e.g., Bronson, 74 U.S. (7 Wall.) at 254; Butler v. Horowitz, 74 U.S. (7 Wall.) 258, 260-61 (1868); Trebilcock v. Wilson, 79 U.S. (12 Wall.) 687, 698-99 (1871).

<sup>188.</sup> Section 11 of the Coinage Act was arguably constitutional in 1792, representing as it did a reasonable means of regulating the value of gold coins as against the dollar, see U.S. CONST. art. I, § 8, cl. 5, in an era in which financial data were uncertain and difficult to communicate with dispatch. Today, such a statutorily fixed exchange ratio for the precious metals would be unreasonable, given the technical sophistication of existing financial institutions. Section 11 of a parallel modern act ought to read, perhaps,

That the proportional value of gold to silver in all coins which shall by law be current as money within the United States, on any particular day or days, shall be the proportion between pure gold and pure silver, according to quantity in weight, existing at the beginning of the business day or days in [here Congress would identify a financial market], or, if the particular day or days is or are not a business day or days, on the last preceding business day or days.

Cf. H.R. 6054, 97th Cong. § 4 (1982).

for silver and gold coins), and 20 (dollar identified as money of account).<sup>189</sup> In particular, Congress' determination of the proper weight of the dollar—"of the value of a Spanish milled dollar as the same is now current"<sup>190</sup>—remains for all practical purposes today a statement of constitutional law unalterable except by amendment of the Constitution itself. For, at the remove of almost two centuries, it is most probably impossible to revise the conclusion that 371 1/4 grains of fine silver best represents an average of the various Spanish dollars in circulation in the United States in the years immediately preceding 1792.

The Coinage Act of 1792 regulated the value of domestic gold coins as against the (silver) dollar. Hamilton had recommended in his *Report* that

foreign coins may be suffered to circulate precisely on their present footing for one year after the mint shall have commenced its operations. The privilege may then be continued for another year, to the gold coins of Portugal, England, and France, and to the silver coins of Spain. And these may still be permitted to be current for one year more at the rates allowed to be given for them at the mint; after the expiration of which the circulation of all foreign coins to cease. . . .

It may, nevertheless, be advisable . . . to continue the currency of the Spanish dollar, at a value corresponding with the quantity of fine silver contained in it, beyond the period above mentioned for the cessation of the circulation of the foreign coins.<sup>191</sup>

The 1792 Act, however, did not regulate the value . . . of any foreign coin as part of the money of the United States.

Almost a year after the Coinage Act of 1792, recognizing the need to make various coins of England, France, Portugal, and Spain officially Money, Congress enacted a statute to regulate their values, declaring that these "foreign gold and silver coins shall pass current as money within the United States, and be a legal tender for the payment of all debts and demands, at [specified] rates." These, however, were no arbitrary rates. For Congress declared that

no foreign coin that may have been, or shall be issued subsequent to [January 1, 1792] shall be a tender . . . until samples thereof have been found, by assay, at the mint of the United States, to be conformable to the respective standards required, and proclamation thereof shall have been made by the President of the United

<sup>189.</sup> Act of Apr. 2, 1792, ch. 16, §§ 9, 14, 16, 20, 1 Stat. 246, 248-51.

<sup>190. § 9, 1</sup> Stat. at 248.

<sup>191.</sup> Hamilton's Report, supra note 107, at 2085-86.

<sup>192.</sup> Act of Feb. 9, 1793, ch. 5, § 1, 1 Stat. 300, 300.

115

States. 193

In anticipation of a supply of United States coins, however, Congress provided that "at the expiration of three years next ensuing the time when the coinage . . . shall commence at the mint [created in the Coinage Act of 1792] . . . all foreign . . . coins, except Spanish milled dollars and parts of such dollars shall cease to be a legal tender"; 194 and "all foreign gold and silver coins (except Spanish milled dollars, and parts of such dollars,) which shall be received in payment for monies due to the United States . . shall, previously to their being issued in circulation, be coined anew, in conformity to the [Coinage Act of 1792]." Thus, once again, Congress recognized the Spanish milled dollar as the money-unit of the country.

Congress continued this policy until 1857.<sup>196</sup> Finally, in that year, Congress declared that "the pieces commonly known as the quarter, eighth, and sixteenth of the Spanish pillar dollar, and of the Mexican dollar, shall be receivable at the treasury of the United States," but that "the said coins, when so received, shall not again be paid out, or put in circulation, but shall be recoined at the mint." Additionally, Congress repealed "all former acts authorizing the currency of foreign gold or silver coins, and declaring the same a legal tender in payment for debts." Thus, for the first time since 1707, 199 the actual *Spanish* dollar—the original constitutional dollar—ceased to be part of the official circulating medium of the country and became a true money of account (or imaginary money).

The foregoing establishes the original intent of the Constitution with respect to the term dollar and proves two propositions: (1) that the Constitution *is* a perfectly intelligible document; and (2) that the present régime in Washington has no idea, or no interest in, what the Constitution means in the area of money. Indeed, even without analyzing the devolution of American monetary law since 1792, any careful reader can immediately grasp that the present confusion in the United States Code<sup>200</sup> represents a complete rejection on the part of Congress of the keystone of the Found-

<sup>193. § 1. 1</sup> Stat. at 300-301.

<sup>194. § 2, 1</sup> Stat. at 301.

<sup>195. § 3, 1</sup> Stat. at 301. This policy of recoinage was later criticized as wasteful. See I. Sylvester, Bullion Certificates as Currency 7-8 (1882).

<sup>196.</sup> See Act of 1 Feb. 1798, ch. 11, 1 Stat. 539; Act of 30 Apr. 1802, ch. 38, 2 Stat. 173; Act of 10 Apr. 1806, ch. 22, 2 Stat. 374; Act of 29 Apr. 1816, ch. 139, 3 Stat. 322; Act of 3 Mar. 1819, ch. 97, 3 Stat. 525; Act of 3 Mar. 1821, ch. 53, 3 Stat. 645; Act of 3 Mar. 1823, ch. 50, 3 Stat. 777; Act of 25 June 1834, ch. 71, 4 Stat. 681; Act of 28 June 1834, ch. 96, 4 Stat. 700; Act of 3 Mar. 1843, ch. 69, 5 Stat. 607.

<sup>197.</sup> Act of Feb. 21, 1857, ch. 56, §§ 1-2, 11 Stat. 163.

<sup>198. § 3, 11</sup> Stat. at 163.

<sup>199.</sup> See supra text accompanying notes 80-82.

<sup>200.</sup> See supra text accompanying notes 11-32.

### Texas Review of Law & Politics

ing Fathers' monetary structure.

116

### VI. Nonconstitutional Reform

## A. Monetary Constitutions

Perhaps more disturbing than the ignorance of Congress, however, is the failure of many otherwise distinguished scholars to perceive the controlling nature of the Constitution in the debate over sound money and honest banking and their failure to investigate what the Constitution really says on these subjects. This disregard of the Constitution is particularly enigmatic among those who explicitly call for a "monetary constitution" to control the excesses of governments and specially privileged private banks. For example, Brennan and Buchanan offer four possible "monetary constitutions" to "discipline unconstrained monetary monopoly."201 First, "a totally free market in money, with no direct money-creating government role," but in which "[g]overnment could . . . collect taxes in the money or monies of its choice . . . . "202 Second, "government may be empowered to issue domestic money," but "[t]he constitution would guarantee that individuals could hold balances, make private contracts, including the incurring of debts, and conduct ordinary transactions in any money of their choosing," so that "[t]he forces of competition would act as the restraint on the government money-issue monopoly."203 Third, "[t]he government role [would be] limited to the definition of the monetary value of a physical unit of a designated commodity[,] . . . and if there is paper money it is convertible at a fixed price directly into the base commodity at the governmental money window."204 And fourth, "[g]overnment may be empowered to issue money . . . . But the constitution may subject the grant of the monopoly to specially-defined rules that limit the powers of the moneycreation authority."205

Unfortunately, the validity of these monetary constitutions is less than self-evident. For example, how could "a totally free market in money" exist where the "[g]overnment could . . . collect taxes in the money of its choice"? If taxes are significant in size relative to total monetary transactions in the economy, the government's choice of a medium of taxation-that is, a legal tender for the payment of taxes-will have an

Vol. 2

<sup>201.</sup> Brennan & Buchanan, supra note 56, at 58.

<sup>202.</sup> Id. at 59.

<sup>203.</sup> Id. at 60.

<sup>204.</sup> Id. at 61.

<sup>205.</sup> Id. at 62.

advantage over other media of exchange, because people will need to acquire the "official money" to pay their taxes. Thus, the "market in money" will not be "totally free," or competition totally fair.

One might also ask: What evidence exists that "[t]he forces of competition" in the use of money in private transactions "would act as [a] restraint on the government money-issue monopoly"? Although the Supreme Court has not held that "[t]he Constitution . . . guarantee[s] that individuals [can] hold balances, make private contracts, including the incurring of debts, and conduct ordinary transactions in the money of their choosing,"206 Americans have long had the statutory rights to own gold and silver and to make so-called gold-clause contracts that specify the money required for payment.<sup>207</sup> Nonetheless, one would be hard-pressed to find that the "forces of competition" have caused any significant number of Americans to use gold or silver in "ordinary transactions." If anything, behavior in the markets has justified the government's rationale for legalizing the ownership of gold that such ownership could be allowed, because "the monetary role of gold is declining. . . . The dollar is no longer convertible to gold. and it appears unlikely that such convertibility will be restored."208 In other words, the government presumed that private ownership of gold would not stoke the forces of competition in money, and events have proved the government correct, so far.

One might also wonder what "the definition of the monetary value of a physical unit of a . . . commodity" might be. Declaring, for instance, that X grains of silver constitute a "dollar"? But how is the government role limited unless this power of "definition" can apply to only one "commodity," and, having been made, cannot thereafter be changed by statute (as opposed to change by constitutional amendment)? Clearly, the present Congress asserts a power to "defin[e] . . . the monetary value of a physical unit" of several different commodities, including silver, gold, and a basemetallic sandwich. The result is chaos.<sup>209</sup>

Finally, it is fair to inquire: Why "if there is paper money" should that

117

<sup>206.</sup> Indeed, the court has erroneously held the opposite. See Norman v. Baltimore & Ohio R.R., 294 U.S. 240 (1935); Nortz v. United States, 294 U.S. 317 (1935).

<sup>207.</sup> Congress purported to outlaw the ownership of gold by Americans and the private use of "goldclause contracts" in 1933 and 1934. See Act of Mar. 9, 1933, ch. 1, §§ 2-3, 48 Stat. 1, 1-2; H.R.J. Res. 192, 73d Cong. (1933), ch. 48, pmbl., § 1(a), 48 Stat. 112, 112-13; Act of Jan. 30, 1934, ch. 6, §§ 2(a), 3, 5, 6, 48 Stat. 337, 337, 340. The ownership of silver was never outlawed, although "silver-clause contracts" were illegal. However, all prohibitions against "purchasing, holding, selling, or otherwise dealing with gold" were repealed in 1973. Act of Sept. 21, 1973, Pub. L. 93-110, § 3(b), 87 Stat. 352, 352. And the prohibition of "gold-clause contracts" was repealed in 1977. Act of Oct. 28, 1977, Pub. L. 95-147, § 4(c), 91 Stat. 1227, 1229 (codified at 31 U.S.C. § 5118(d)(2) (1994)).

<sup>208.</sup> H.R. REP. No. 93-203 (1973), reprinted in 1978 U.S.C.C.A.N. 2062.

<sup>209.</sup> See supra text accompanying notes 26-32.

118

# Texas Review of Law & Politics

money be "convertible at a fixed price into the base commodity at the government money window"? If the "government role is limited to the definition of the monetary value of a physical unit of a . . . commodity," the government may not itself generate "paper money," "convertible" or not. And if private parties generate their own paper money, why should the government assume a liability to convert that money "at a fixed price into the base commodity"? After all, the assumption of such a liability was one of the fundamental flaws in the Federal Reserve System from its inception.<sup>210</sup>

Even leaving such criticisms aside, one must assume that Brennan and Buchanan have suggested these "monetary arrangements to meet constitutional tests" because they believe such "constitutional tests" are not being met now. That may be true de facto. But what is the true situation de jure? These and many other reformers apparently assume, without citing a single definitive interpretation, that our Constitution contains no limits on the government's power to issue money.

Vol. 2

## B. Explaining Constitutional Ignorance

This disregard of the Constitution on the part of otherwise distinguished monetary reformers is troubling. For no reconstruction of the present monetary and banking systems can occur without enactment of new laws and the amendment and repeal of existing statutes. The Constitution controls all such enactments, including even the validity of existing statutes, regulations, and judicial decisions. Indeed, it can never be repeated too often or emphasized too boldly that "[a]n unconstitutional act is not a law; it confers no rights; it imposes no duties . . . ; it is, in legal contemplation, as inoperative as though it had never been passed."211 Therefore, the absolutely necessary first step in monetary and banking reform is to determine, with certainty, precisely what the Constitution prescribes, permits, and prohibits. Defining the dollar and the other parameters of America's monetary constitution can greatly simplify the debate over reform in three ways: first, by convincing the academic and political communities that constitutional restraints over governmental action with respect to money and banking do exist, particularly in terms of the unit of account (the dollar) and the commodities permissible as Money and "Tender in Payment of Debts" (silver and gold coin);<sup>212</sup> second, by determining which monetary and banking statutes enacted since 1792, and which bills proposed for passage in the future, are lawful and which are not; and third, by narrowing the ambit of controversy over proposed reforms by ruling some of them unconstitutional ab initio.

Why, then, do so many monetary reformers act as if the Constitution were irrelevant to their concerns? One possibility is that some of these people neglect the Constitution because they would rather not know the right answer—or have anyone else know it. After all, a fixed constitutional solution limits the degrees of freedom erstwhile gurus enjoy to propose new monetary and banking arrangements. For example, only a few articles in prestigious journals should be necessary to establish beyond any further debate what a constitutional dollar is. And, once established as a silver coin, the dollar cannot, without amendment of the supreme law, be redefined as some weight of gold, some "basket of goods," or something else altogether. Thus, the constitutional solution to today's issues of

<sup>211.</sup> Norton v. Shelby County, 118 U.S. 425, 442 (1886) (emphasis added).

<sup>212.</sup> Compare U.S. Const. art. I, § 9, cl. 1, and U.S. Const. amend. VII, with U.S. Const. art. I, § 10, cl. 1.

<sup>213.</sup> See generally Michael Parkin, Macroeconomics 140-44 (2d. ed. 1994); Roy J. Ruffin & Paul R. Gregory, Principles of Economics (1983) (both discussing the Department of Labor's use of the cost of a basket of goods in calculating the Consumer Price Index).

Vol. 2

money and banking will necessarily be unpopular in certain quarters, because it threatens to limit academic and political careers.

Another more generally applicable answer may be that these "nonconstitutional" monetary reformers consider a campaign for constitutional monetary reform hopelessly quixotic. Indeed, many people scoff that *any* variety of constitutional reform is ultimately delusive, inasmuch as modernday politicians, legislators, judges, and bureaucrats have successfully (and apparently with public approbation) set aside the original intent of the Constitution and substituted a "living" Constitution<sup>214</sup> which, in the fashion of a chameleon, assumes whatever legal coloration the holders of public office and the leaders of special interest pressure groups find expedient from day to day. However, the only delusion here is in the minds of those espousing such a cynical view.

Legally speaking, the "government" is the set of operations that proceed according to certain defined constitutional procedures, in the service of certain definable public and private constitutional "rights," "powers," "privileges," and "immun-ities." 215 As they must do to maintain even a semblance of legitimacy, public officials act according to what they claim are "constitutional" powers and say they are performing "constitutional" duties. Observers who understand the Constitution may (and in all too many instances should) deny that these supposed powers and duties are what the Constitution actually prescribes and therefore may charge the officials with dereliction of duty, usurpation-"the exercise of Power, which another hath a Right to," or even tyranny—"the exercise of power beyond right, which no body can have a right to."216 Yet no one, public official or private critic, will gainsay the Constitution's controlling nature in all matters, whatever their disagreements over its construction and application in particular cases. America has not reached the stage at which her rulers can assert mere force as their title to office, mere personal whim as the basis of their administration of the government, and get away with it. And as long as they cling to even a pretense of constitutional sanction for what they do,

120

<sup>214.</sup> On originalism, see generally Daniel A. Farber, The Originalism Debate: A Guide for the Perplexed, 49 Ohio St. L. J. 1085 (1989); compare, e.g., Paul Brest, The Misconceived Quest for the Original Understanding, 60 B.U. L. Rev. 204 (1980), with Robert Bork, The Tempting of America: The Political Seduction of the Law (1990). On the potentially problematic use of the term "living Constitution," see William H. Rehnquist, The Notion of a Living Constitution, 54 Tex. L. Rev. 693 (1976).

<sup>215.</sup> On the terminology, see Wesley Newcomb Hohfeld, Fundamental Legal Conceptions as Applied in Judicial Reasoning (part. 1), 23 Yale L.J. 16 (1913); Wesley Newcomb Hohfeld, Fundamental Legal Conceptions as Applied in Judicial Reasoning (part. 2), 26 Yale L.J. 710 (1917); Arthur L. Corbin, Legal Analysis and Terminology, 29 Yale L.J. 163 (1919).

<sup>216.</sup> John Locke, An Essay Concerning the True Original, Extent and End of Civil Government, in SOCIAL CONTRACT: ESSAYS BY LOCKE, HUME, AND ROUSSEAU (Sir Ernest Baker ed., Galaxy 1962) (emphasis added).

they can and should—indeed, *must*—be held accountable to the Constitution.

Moreover, if (as the scoffers allege) the present-day political establishment has substituted its new-model living Constitution for the document handed down from the Founding Fathers, then what hope exists for any rational reform of the monetary and banking systems? Any such reform depends for its very existence on the legal sanctity of private property and private contracts and therefore, ultimately on constitutional restraints on the power of government to annul contracts through legal-tender laws, to confiscate silver and gold coin from individuals, to repudiate public and private debts, and to perform other abusive acts of monetary usurpation and tyranny. However, if a political establishment has set aside the Founding Fathers' Constitution; if this establishment has done so, in part, to institutionalize the present system of fiat FRNs, fractional-reserve banking through the Federal Reserve cartel, and "monetization" of governmental debt; and if an electorate with proper education, motivation, and leadership cannot restore constitutional money and banking through constitutional channels, then how can sound money and honest banking ever be reinstituted—other than through economic collapse followed by violent revolution?

Advocates of constitutionalism (the doctrine of limited government) argue that a new constitution (the document limiting government) is necessary to overcome the demonstrated unwillingness of public officials—including justices of the Supreme Court—to enforce the present Constitution according to the original intent these officials refuse to acknowledge. A new constitution, however, cannot guarantee a return to constitutionalism. Officials who knowingly refuse to obey the monetary powers and disabilities set out in the Founding Fathers' Constitution are not likely to honor a new constitution that substantively embodies the same commands in different, even if more forceful language. For their present refusal rests not on an innocent misunderstanding of the meaning of the Constitution, but on a studied intent to defeat that meaning by misconstruction, misapplication, or simple evasion. A return to constitutionalism requires that those officials first be replaced with individuals of sounder moral character—and then severely punished *pour encourager les autres*.

It is also a fair assertion that the constitutional monetary and banking systems the Founding Fathers devised are not the very best economic régimes possible. Although perhaps true, this contention is not germane to the fundamental issue of which is to rule: law or politics; the Constitution (whatever its faults may be, pending amendment) or politicians, judges, and bureaucrats (the faults of whom are only too obvious, and

122

ineradicable as the consequences of Original Sin). In a similar vein, others complain that the constitutional monetary and banking systems are too "inflexible" for modern times, and provide little leeway for "experimentation." To this, there are two responses: First, the Constitution may be amended, if experience proves it defective.217 Second, the Founding Fathers adopted the monetary powers and disabilities as essential guaran-

tees of private property and individual liberty, with which the government

"is not entitled to dispense in the interest of experiments."218

Neither should we accept the futility of trying to implement any monetary constitution through the present-day Congress, President, and Judici-These gloomy prophecies forget historical examples of proper implementation of the monetary powers and disabilities by less-thanperfect legislatures and executives, even in the face of terrific political pressures and after episodes of glaringly unconstitutional actions—for examples, the coinage acts of 1792 and 1834, the refusal to recharter the second Bank of the United States in the 1830s, the resumption of redeemability in gold coin for the Civil War Greenbacks in the 1870s, and the restoration of individuals' rights to own gold and to make gold-clause contracts in the 1970s. And they neglect judicial decisions with respect to money at least in part favorable to the Constitution—such as Lane County v. Oregon,<sup>219</sup> Bronson v. Rodes,<sup>220</sup> and even Perry v. United States.<sup>221</sup>

Finally, it is a mistake to despairingly characterize today's monetary and banking problems as altogether insoluble, whatever the theoretical adequacy of the monetary powers and disabilities of the Constitution and the presumed willingness of virtuous and competent public officials to perform their legal duties. No problems can be dismissed as insoluble by the application of constitutional power until that power has actually been applied without success. At every major wrong turning-point in America's monetary history—from the emission of the first governmental legal tender paper currency in 1862, through the establishment of the Federal Reserve in 1913, to the purported "demonetization" of gold in 1933 (domestically) and 1971 (internationally) and of silver in 1968—politicians abandoned the Constitution, and the courts did nothing to enforce it. Surely, this test convincingly proves the incompetence for or treason to their offices of politicians and judges, far more than any inadequacy in the Constitution.

<sup>217.</sup> U.S. CONST. art. V.

<sup>218.</sup> New State Ice Co. v. Liebmann, 285 U.S. 262, 280 (1932). Accord Truax v. Corrigan, 257 U.S. 312, 338 (1921); Pointer v. Texas, 380 U.S. 400, 413 (1965) (Goldberg, J., concurring).

<sup>219. 74</sup> U.S. (7. Wall.) 71 (1868).

<sup>220. 74</sup> U.S. (7 Wall.) 229 (1869).

<sup>221. 294</sup> U.S. 330 (1935).

Indeed, how could Americans expect anything other than disaster from wholesale, repetitive violations of the supreme law? Why should anyone conclude from this rather unsurprising record that strict enforcement of the Constitution in the future would have no different result?

Fiat money is unworkable in the long run, because fiat money is a pernicious means of redistributing wealth from society in general to the money-creators in particular: any group invested with such a power to redistribute wealth will eventually abuse it—to the profound loss of everyone else. Nevertheless, most Americans today, in public office or private station, are either altogether ignorant of the serious problems of money and banking the country faces or are deceiving themselves that no danger threatens. Perhaps they are just hoping that the very institutions and individuals responsible for causing the danger can somehow muddle through to safety. Old—and especially bad—habits of belief and behavior die hard, none maintaining its grip more tenaciously than the alchemists' dream of transmuting base metals into gold, or (in that fantasy's modernday formulation) the bankers' delusion of creating real capital out of deposit-credits and real wealth out of paper currency. Fractional-reserve banking, monetization of public debt, and the other card-tricks and sleights of hand that typify modern monetary manipulation are profitable, economically and politically. Naturally, those who profit from them turn a blind eye to the long-term injuries society suffers as a result, while being quick to offer rationalizations for the status quo, glib in their denials of any danger, and forward in their disparagements of whoever dares to advocate systematic monetary reform. Many others, perhaps not so keenly selfinterested, nevertheless believe the system of legal-tender paper currency and governmentally privileged fractional-reserve banks is essential to commerce. To them, the government and its client banks are the only workable—and certainly the only familiar—sources of what passes for money, without which the country would lack a medium of exchange, and its economy would collapse into chaos. Even many of those who do understand the evils inherent in the present system resign themselves to suffer those evils in silence and inaction, despairing of a remedy, or assuming any remedy would cause too much economic pain to be borne by a society addicted to the immediate gratifications of consumerism.

# Texas Review of Law & Politics

Vol. 2

#### VII. CONCLUSION

In a free society, one must presume the present problems of money and banking stem ultimately from ignorance—that Americans, if they understood, would employ the sovereign power of "We the People" to save their country with the most powerful weapon at their disposal: their own Constitution, of which they are the authors,222 the masters,223 and the ultimate interpreters. To be sure, legal-tender paper currency and fractionalreserve banking have insinuated themselves into every important economic and political relationship in American life, creating a quasi-feudal system of distinct classes—some, such as the banks within the Federal Reserve cartel, specially privileged by law—and impressing upon society a corrupt system of materialistic amorality that puts pursuit of a "quick buck" ahead of everything else. Yet, for all its entrenched power, this economic feudalism is no more ineradicable than the hereditary feudalism of titled nobility the Constitution swept away in two short clauses.<sup>224</sup> For the Constitution contains equally effective prohibitions against the abuses of unsound money and dishonest banking-if the people would merely read it intelligently and enforce it diligently.<sup>225</sup> Whether anything will be done before the monetary and banking systems pass into another major crisis remains to be seen. If it is not, the fault will not lie with the Constitution.

124

<sup>222.</sup> U.S. CONST. preamble.

<sup>223.</sup> U.S. CONST. art. V.

<sup>224.</sup> U.S. CONST. art. I, § 9, cl. 8; U.S. CONST. art. I, § 10, cl. 1.

<sup>225.</sup> U.S. CONST. art. I, § 8, cls. 2 & 5; U.S. CONST. art. I, § 10, cl. 1.